

# Recipe Unlimited Corporation ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM

March 29, 2019

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

	Page
CAUTIONARY NOTICE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	2
GENERAL	3
NON-IFRS MEASURES	3
CORPORATE STRUCTURE	5
DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS	5
DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS	8
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STRUCTURE	20
RISK FACTORS	23
DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTIONS	36
PRICE RANGE AND TRADING VOLUME OF SUBORDINATE VOTING SHARES	36
PRIOR SALES	37
DIRECTORS, OFFICERS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT	37
AUDIT COMMITTEE	39
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS	40
INTERESTS OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS	41
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	41
TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR	42
MATERIAL CONTRACTS	42
EXPERTS	42
APPENDIX A: AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER	A-1

#### CAUTIONARY NOTICE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

All forward-looking statements in this Annual Information Form ("**AIF**") are made as of March 29, 2019 and are qualified by these cautionary statements.

This AIF contains "forward-looking information" within the meaning of applicable securities laws. Forward-looking information may relate to the Company's future outlook and anticipated events or results and may include information regarding the financial position, business strategy, growth strategy, budgets, operations, financial results, taxes, dividends, plans and objectives of the Company. Particularly, information regarding future results, performance, achievements, prospects or opportunities of the Company or the Canadian market is forward-looking information. In some cases, forward-looking information can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as "plans", "targets", "expects" or "does not expect", "is expected", "an opportunity exists", "budget", "scheduled", "estimates", "forecasts", "intends", "anticipates" or "does not anticipate" or "believes", or variations of such words and phrases or state that certain actions, events or results "may", "could", "would", "might", "will" or "will be taken", "occur" or "be achieved".

Discussions containing forward-looking information may be found, among other places, under the headings "Description of the Business", "Development of the Business" and "Risk Factors". These forward-looking statements include, among other things, statements relating to:

- the Company's expectations regarding its revenue, expenses and operations;
- the Company's future growth plans, including expansion of Recipe's current brands and acquisitions, and the completion of its proposed name change;
- the Company's expectations with respect to advancement in its technologies;
- the Company's expectations with respect to retail sales;
- the Company's expectations with respect to growth resulting from its off-premise sales initiatives;
- the Company's expectations with respect to SRS Growth (as defined herein) and to growth of System Sales (as defined herein) and Operating EBITDA (as defined herein);
- the Company's expectations with respect to restaurant closures and new restaurant openings;
- the Company's intention to declare dividends;
- the Company's expectations with respect to strategic partnerships;
- the Company's expectations with respect to its ability to leverage its scale to reduce costs;
- the Company's expectations with respect to savings realized as a result of implementing improved scheduling practices;
- anticipated trends and challenges in the Company's business and the market in which it operates; and
- the market price for the Company's subordinate voting shares (the "Subordinate Voting Shares").

These statements and other forward-looking information are based on opinions, assumptions and estimates made by the Company in light of its experience and perception of historical trends, current conditions and expected future developments, as well as other factors that the Company believes are appropriate and reasonable in the circumstances, but there can be no assurance that such estimates and assumptions will prove to be correct.

Forward-looking information is necessarily based on a number of the opinions, assumptions and estimates that, while considered reasonable by the Company as of the date such statements are made, are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors that may cause the actual results, level of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking information, including but not limited to the following factors described in greater detail in "Risk Factors": potential volatility of the price of the Subordinate Voting Shares: payment of dividends; forward-looking information; significant ownership by the Principal Shareholders (as defined herein); future sales of shares by the Principal Shareholders; dilution; limited voting rights attached to the Subordinate Voting Shares; quarterly operating results may fluctuate; securities analysts' research or reports could impact the price of Subordinate Voting Shares: restaurant industry; competition with other franchisors; quality control and health concerns; food safety; security breaches of confidential quest information; public safety issues; damage to the Company's reputation; availability and quality of raw materials; reliance on suppliers; growth of the Company; franchisees; franchise fees and other revenue; franchisee relations; revenue reporting risks; opening new restaurants; potential inability to consummate acquisitions; integration of acquisitions and brand expansion; achieving expected synergies from acquisitions; retail licensing opportunities; seasonality and weather; regulations governing alcoholic beverages; laws concerning employees; dependence on key personnel; attracting and retaining quality employees: unionization activities may disrupt Company operations; reliance on information technology; intellectual property; lawsuits; regulation; and Company's insurance may not provide adequate levels of coverage. These factors and assumptions are not intended to represent a complete list of the factors and assumptions that could affect the Company. These factors and assumptions, however, should be considered carefully.

Although the Company has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking information, there may be other factors that cause results not to be as anticipated, estimated or intended. There can be no assurance that such information will prove to be accurate, as actual results and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in such information. Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking information. The Company does not undertake to update any forward-looking information contained herein, except as required by applicable securities laws.

#### **GENERAL**

In this AIF, unless the context requires otherwise, references to the "Company" or "Recipe" means Recipe Unlimited Corporation. Unless otherwise indicated, all information in this AIF is provided as at December 30, 2018.

Financial data is prepared in accordance with IFRS and unless otherwise noted, these non-IFRS measures are defined below. All currency amounts are presented in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted.

## **NON-IFRS MEASURES**

This AIF makes reference to certain non-IFRS measures. These measures are not recognized measures under International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IFRS") and do not have a standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS. They are therefore unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. Rather, these measures are provided as additional information to complement IFRS measures by providing further understanding of the Company's results of operations from management's perspective. Accordingly, they should not be considered in isolation nor as a substitute for analysis of the Company's financial

information reported under IFRS. The Company uses non-IFRS measures including "System Sales", "SRS Growth", "EBITDA", "Operating EBITDA", "Operating EBITDA Margin", "Operating EBITDA Margin on System Sales", "Adjusted Net Earnings", "Adjusted Basic EPS", and "Adjusted Diluted EPS" to provide investors with supplemental measures of its operating performance and thus highlight trends in its core business that may not otherwise be apparent when relying solely on IFRS financial measures. The Company also believes that securities analysts, investors and other interested parties frequently use non-IFRS measures in the evaluation of issuers. The Company's management also uses non-IFRS measures in order to facilitate operating performance comparisons from period to period, to prepare annual operating budgets, and to determine components of management compensation. See the Company's management discussion and analysis for the financial year ended December 30, 2018 for further discussion of these non-IFRS financial measures and for a reconciliation of these measures to their most directly comparable IFRS measure.

"System Sales" represents top-line sales from restaurant guests at both corporate and franchise restaurants including take-out and delivery customer orders. System Sales includes sales from both established restaurants as well as new restaurants. System Sales also includes sales received from its food processing and distribution division. Management believes System Sales provides meaningful information to investors regarding the size of Recipe's restaurant network, the total market share of the Company's brands sold in restaurant and grocery and the overall financial performance of its brands and restaurant owner base, which ultimately impacts Recipe's consolidated financial performance.

"System Sales Growth" is a metric used in the restaurant industry to compare System Sales over a certain period of time, such as a fiscal quarter, for the current period against System Sales in the same period in the previous year.

"SRS Growth" is a metric used in the restaurant industry to compare sales earned in established locations over a certain period of time, such as a fiscal quarter, for the current period against sales in the same period in the previous year. SRS Growth helps explain what portion of sales growth can be attributed to growth in established locations and what portion can be attributed to the opening of net new restaurants. Recipe defines SRS Growth as the percentage increase or decrease in sales during a period of restaurants open for at least 24 complete fiscal months relative to the sales of those restaurants during the same period in the prior year. Recipe's SRS Growth results exclude sales from 41 international New York Fries and 3 U.S. East Side Mario's locations. For the first quarter of 2018, SRS includes the negative timing impact from Easter Weekend, a low sales period, as compared to 2017 when Easter Weekend was included in the second quarter. The negative timing impact from Easter Weekend reversed in the second quarter of 2018.

"EBITDA" is defined as net earnings (loss) before: (i) net interest expense and other financing charges; (ii) income taxes; (iii) depreciation of property, plant and equipment; and (iv) amortization of other assets.

"Operating EBITDA" is defined as net earnings (loss) before: (i) net interest expense and other financing charges; (ii) income taxes; (iii) depreciation of property, plant and equipment; (iv) amortization of other assets and deferred gain; (v) impairment of assets, net of reversals; (vi) losses on early buyout / cancellation of equipment rental contracts; (vii) restructuring and other; (viii) conversion fees; (ix) net (gain) / loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment; (x) stock based compensation and costs related to its restricted share units; (xi) changes in onerous contract provision; (xii) expense impact from fair value inventory adjustment resulting from the St-Hubert purchase relating to inventory sold during the period; (xiii) acquisition related transaction costs; (xiv) change in fair value of non-controlling interest liability; (xv) change in fair value of exchangeable units of the Partnership (as defined herein); (xvi) the Company's proportionate share of equity accounted investment in joint ventures; and (xvii) interest income from units of the Partnership.

"Operating EBITDA Margin" is defined as Operating EBITDA divided by total gross revenue.

"Operating EBITDA Margin on System Sales" is defined as Operating EBITDA divided by System Sales.

"Adjusted Net Earnings" is defined as net earnings plus (i) deferred income tax expense (reversal); (ii) non-cash amortization of inventory fair value increases related to inventory sold during the period resulting from the St-Hubert Inc. ("St-Hubert") purchase determined at acquisition date; (iii) change in fair value of the exchangeable units of the Partnership; (iv) one-time transaction costs; (v) non-cash impairment charges; and (vi) restructuring and other.

"Adjusted Basic EPS" is defined as Adjusted Net Earnings divided by the weighted average number of shares outstanding.

"Adjusted Diluted EPS" is defined as Adjusted Net Earnings divided by the weighted average number of shares outstanding plus the dilutive effect of stock options and warrants issued.

#### CORPORATE STRUCTURE

The Company was amalgamated under the *Business Corporations Act* (Ontario) ("**OBCA**") on April 10, 2015, and is the successor to Canadian Railway News Company, which commenced operations in 1883 and was incorporated as Cara Operations Limited in 1961. On May 11, 2018, the Company changed its name from Cara Operations Limited to Recipe Unlimited Corporation. The Company's head and registered office is located at 199 Four Valley Drive, Vaughan, Ontario, L4K 0B8, Canada. The Company holds its interest in certain restaurants, intellectual property and other assets through directly and indirectly owned companies. The only subsidiaries of the Company which exceed 10% of the consolidated assets or consolidated revenues of the Company are St-Hubert, a corporation existing under the laws of Ontario ("**The Keg**").

#### **DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS**

Founded by the Phelan family in 1883 as the Canada Railway News Company Limited, Recipe initially provided newspapers, food, snacks and other supplies to travellers on the railways and steamship lines operating in Southern Ontario. Recipe expanded its operations throughout the 1900s to include, among others, the operation of hotels and restaurants, airline catering services and specialty coffee. Recipe was listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (the "TSX") between 1968 and 2004 and taken private by the Phelan family in 2004. Following Recipe's privatization in 2004, the Company refocused operations by divesting non-core businesses and transitioning to a pure-play branded restaurant company. Divestitures included Recipe's coffee business, its air terminal restaurants business, its food distribution business and Recipe's airline catering and logistics operations.

Recipe's financial performance during the period from 2004 to 2012 declined significantly, resulting in the decrease of Recipe's EBITDA from \$129 million to \$52.8 million, driven by the loss of contribution from asset sales, the impact of the financial crisis beginning in 2008 on Recipe's growing central fixed cost structure and the loss of higher corporate restaurant profits in return for lower franchise royalty income.

Despite the challenges experienced by Recipe, the resilience of its iconic brands was evident in that Recipe's network was still able to experience modest growth and increased System Sales from \$1.1 billion in our 2004 fiscal year to \$1.3 billion in our 2012 fiscal year. By the end of our 2012 fiscal year, leverage reached 6.4x in terms of total net debt-to-EBITDA. With Recipe facing severely constrained financial flexibility in 2013, Fairfax Financial Holdings Limited and its affiliates ("Fairfax") — a leading Canadian holding company listed on the TSX — led a recapitalization of Recipe by investing \$100 million in Recipe and selling its interest in Prime Restaurants Inc. ("Prime") to Recipe for approximately \$69.6 million. Fairfax had acquired Prime, whose well known restaurant brands included East Side Mario's, Casey's, Prime Pubs and the Bier Markt in January 2012.

Since Fairfax's investment in Recipe, the Company has undergone a successful transformation of the business through the appointment of a new management team and board which have implemented a disciplined culture focused on growing Operating EBITDA as a leading Canadian full-service restaurant operator with iconic brands.

On December 18, 2014, the Company completed the acquisition of 55% of the issued and outstanding common shares of 2446502 Ontario Inc. ("The Landing Group") for a purchase price of approximately \$18.3 million, which was settled in cash. On June 26, 2015, the Company bought the remaining 45% interest in The Landing Group for a purchase price of \$21.2 million, which was settled for a combination of approximately \$14.1 million in cash and approximately \$7.1 million in Subordinate Voting Shares. At the time of purchase, The Landing Group was comprised of three upscale casual restaurants in Southern Ontario. As at December 30, 2018, there were a total of 9 Landing restaurants ("Landing").

On April 10, 2015, the Company completed its initial public offering (the "**IPO**") of 8,700,000 Subordinate Voting Shares at a price of \$23.00 per share, for total gross proceeds of approximately \$200 million. On April 14, 2015, the underwriters exercised in full their over-allotment option to purchase an additional 1,305,000 Subordinate Voting Shares, bringing the aggregate gross proceeds of the IPO to approximately \$230 million. The aggregate gross proceeds from the IPO were entirely used by Recipe to repay existing Company debt.

On October 31, 2015, the Company completed the acquisition of a 100% interest in the assets of the New York Fries business from 122164 Canada Ltd. for a purchase price of approximately \$40.6 million, which was settled in cash (less a \$4 million holdback). The acquisition added an additional 120 restaurants in Canada and 36 restaurants internationally to the Company's restaurant portfolio. As at December 30, 2018, there were a total of 159 New York Fries locations.

On September 2, 2016, the Company completed the acquisition of St-Hubert, a leading full-service restaurant operator in Quebec as well as a fully integrated food manufacturing and distribution business, for total consideration of approximately \$537 million. The transaction was funded through the issuance of 1,788,034 Subordinate Voting Shares (or \$53.9 million in Subordinate Voting Shares) to the vendor and certain management shareholders, approximately \$230.0 million from the proceeds of the offering of subscription receipts of the Company ("Subscription Receipts"), on a private placement basis, and through upsizing the Company's credit facility with a syndicate of lenders. On closing of the St-Hubert transaction, each Subscription Receipt was automatically exchanged, on a one-for-one basis, for Subordinate Voting Shares, resulting in the issuance of 7,863,280 Subordinate Voting Shares.

On September 2, 2016, the Company amended and extended the terms of its existing term credit facility. Recipe's fourth amended and restated term credit facility is comprised of a revolving credit facility in the amount of \$400 million with an accordion feature of up to \$50 million maturing on September 2, 2021 and a non-revolving term credit facility in the amount of \$150 million maturing on September 2, 2019.

On November 28, 2016, the Company completed the acquisition of a majority ownership interest in Original Joe's Franchise Group Inc. for cash consideration of approximately \$93.0 million. Original Joe's Franchise Group Inc. operates and franchises 101 full-service restaurants in Canada and the United States across three brands - Original Joe's Restaurant & Bar ("Original Joe's"), State & Main Kitchen Bar ("State & Main") and Elephant & Castle Pub and Restaurant ("Elephant Castle" and, collectively with Original Joe's and State & Main, the "Original Joe's Group"). The transaction was settled by drawing on the Company's revolving credit facility.

On June 1, 2017, the Company completed an acquisition of a majority interest in The Burger's Priest, a fast casual premium burger restaurant with 12 locations in southern Ontario and 2 locations in Edmonton, Alberta. The transaction was funded through Recipe's existing credit facility. As at December 30, 2018, there were a total of 17 Burger's Priest locations.

The Company and the Montreal Canadiens entered into a joint venture agreement and opened two large-concept sports restaurants in late 2017 under the name 1909 Taverne Moderne. The first restaurant, which is the largest restaurant in Canada, opened on October 11, 2017 next to the Bell Centre in downtown Montreal, Quebec and the second restaurant opened in December 2017 at Place Bell in Laval, Quebec.

On November 30, 2017, the Company completed the acquisition of Pickle Barrel Restaurants Limited, a leading full-service restaurant operator in the Greater Toronto Area along with a thriving catering business through The Pickle Barrel catering as well as through a 50% interest in Rose Reisman Catering, for total consideration of approximately \$18 million. The transaction was funded through Recipe's existing credit facility. As at December 30, 2018, there were a total of 13 Pickle Barrel locations.

On February 22, 2018, the Company completed a transformational merger with Keg Restaurants Ltd. ("KRL"). Vancouver-based KRL is the owner, operator and franchisor of casual dining steakhouse restaurants operating under the trade name "The Keg Steakhouse & Bar" in Canada and select markets in the United States. The Keg has established an enviable brand name and reputation as the leader in service, food and ambiance in full service restaurants. The Company paid to KRL's shareholders, Fairfax Financial Holdings Limited and David Aisenstat an aggregate purchase price of approximately \$200 million that was funded through the Company's existing credit facility as well as through the issuance of 3,801,284 Subordinate Voting Shares. In addition, the Company may be required to pay up to an additional \$30 million of cash consideration to Mr. Aisenstat upon the achievement of certain financial milestones within the first three fiscal years following closing. As at December 30, 2018, there were a total of 105 Keg locations.

The Keg Royalties Income Fund (the "Fund") is a limited purpose, open-ended trust established under the laws of the Province of Ontario that, through The Keg Rights Limited Partnership (the "Partnership"), a subsidiary of the Fund, owns certain trademarks and other related intellectual property licensed to KRL. In exchange for the use of those Keg-branded trademarks for 99 years and other related intellectual property, KRL pays the Fund a royalty of 4% of gross sales of Keg restaurants included in the royalty pool. Recipe's merger with KRL did not change KRL's contractual relationship with the Fund. The Fund will remain in its current form and continue to receive royalties from KRL restaurants included in the royalty pool. In that regard, the contractual and operational agreements between KRL and the Fund are unchanged by KRL's merger with Recipe.

On March 9, 2018, the Company acquired a 42.5% interest in a joint venture partnership with the purpose of owning and operating Fresh restaurants. Fresh is a vegan and vegetarian concept and the joint venture is an opportunity for Recipe to collaborate with proven entrepreneurs on a start-up company with long-term growth potential. Fresh currently has five restaurants in the Greater Toronto Area, however, these restaurants will remain outside of the joint venture.

On April 3, 2018, the Company announced the appointment of Frank Hennessey as Chief Executive Officer of Recipe as Bill Gregson relinquished his CEO duties at Recipe to take on the role of Executive Chairman of the Board. Mr. Hennessey is a seasoned restaurant executive with 31 years of restaurant, food manufacturing and grocery retail experience. Previously, Mr. Hennessey was President and CEO of Imvescor Restaurant Group where he had great success turning the company around, growing sales, and increasing shareholder value. Prior to his time at Imvescor, Mr. Hennessey was President and CEO of Bento Sushi.

On May 11, 2018, the Company changed its name from Cara Operations Limited to Recipe Unlimited Corporation. The name change was intended to better reflect the evolution of the new Company which had been transformed over the last number of years, particularly through transactions with St-Hubert, Original Joe's and The Keg.

On December 11, 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in Marigolds & Onions (M&O). M&O has operated for more than 25 years and is a full-service, liquor-licensed catering business in the

Greater Toronto Area. The acquisition creates opportunities for Recipe to further grow its catering portfolio.

#### **DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS**

Recipe is a full-service restaurant company that franchises and operates iconic restaurant brands. As at December 30, 2018, Recipe had 21 brands (not including Casey's) and 1,382 restaurants, 1,324 of which were located in Canada with the remaining 58 located internationally (excludes 3 East Side Mario restaurants located in the United States). Recipe's international operations are not material relative to its operations as a whole. The significant majority of Recipe's restaurants are located across Canada. Of Recipe's 1382 restaurants 85% operated by franchisees or as a joint venture, and the remaining 15% are owned and operated corporately. Recipe's restaurant network includes Harvey's, Swiss Chalet, Kelsey's, East Side Mario's, Montana's, Milestones, Prime Pubs, Casey's, Bier Markt, Landing, New York Fries, St-Hubert, Original Joe's, State & Main, Elephant & Castle, The Burger's Priest, The Pickle Barrel restaurants, 1909 Taverne Moderne, The Keg, Fresh, Rose Reisman Catering and Marigolds & Onions. Recipe's iconic brands have established Recipe as a nationally recognized franchisor of choice.

Recipe is a consolidator of brands in the restaurant industry and as at December 30, 2018 has a portfolio of 21 distinctive brands (not including Casey's), each of which is outlined below:

Daraant

Brand	Year Founded	Units <sup>4</sup>	Percent Franchised or Joint Venture
The Keg <sup>1</sup>	1971	105	53%
Swiss Chalet	1954	212	93%
Harvey's	1959	292	97%
Montana's	1995	107	93%
East Side Mario's	1980	76	97%
Milestones	1989	46	52%
Kelsey's	1978	68	94%
New York Fries	1984	159	90%
Prime Pubs	1996	44	91%
Bier Markt	1999	7	
The Landing Group	2010	9	
St-Hubert	1951	123	90%
Original Joe's	1998	64	70%
State & Main	2011	26	69%
Elephant & Castle	1977	11	9%
Burger's Priest	2010	17	100%
1909 Taverne Moderne	2017	2	100%
Pickle Barrel	1971	13	
Fresh <sup>2</sup>	1999	0	100%
Marigolds & Onions <sup>3</sup>	1993	0	
Rose Reisman Catering	2004	0	
Casey's	1980	1	100%
Total		1,382	85%
Notes:			

<sup>(1)</sup> Recipe merged with The Keg on February 22, 2018.

<sup>(2)</sup> Recipe acquired a 42.5% interest in Fresh on March 9, 2018. No unit count is included in the above chart because Fresh is a start-up venture.

- (3) Recipe acquired a 100% interest in M&O on December 11, 2018. No unit count is included in the above chart because M&O is a catering business.
- (4) Unit count excludes East Side Mario's restaurants located in the United States.

## **Multiple Brand Strategy Provides Significant Competitive Advantages**

Multi-Brand Strategy Provides Diversification

Recipe's current portfolio of 21 distinctive yet highly complementary restaurant brands (which excludes the Casey's brand that the Company is currently in the process of winding down) offers a variety of unique menus and dining experiences to customers in both the full-service restaurant and limited-service restaurant segments. The Company's brands target a broad spectrum of customers across various demographics, dayparts and price points. The diversity of restaurant concepts and their appeal to different target markets enables Recipe to operate multiple brands in the same geographic area without directly competing against each other. This also provides Recipe with the flexibility to adapt to rapidly evolving customer tastes across Canada. Recipe's multiple brands platform allows it to consider converting existing locations from one brand to another and to do so at a lower cost than constructing a new restaurant.

Brand-Specific Dedicated Team and Focus — the "Best" of a Single Brand Strategy

Each Recipe brand has a dedicated team responsible for developing and delivering a superior customer experience and SRS Growth. The multidisciplinary brand teams include an operations lead, a chef and a marketing lead whose attention is devoted solely on matters specific to their brand. They are responsible for all aspects of the brand, from menu development and innovation to restaurant ambiance to advertising campaigns. In turn, Recipe is committed to ensuring the continued strength of each brand by providing a number of centralized resources and shared services. This approach allows the Company to provide support to both corporate and franchised restaurants to improve profitability and operating leverage while allowing them to "live and breathe the brand 24/7", focusing on banner-specific opportunities and customer-facing initiatives.

Providing Scale and Shared Services Infrastructure — the "Best" of a Multi-Brand Strategy

Recipe aims to utilize its scale to provide its restaurants with competitive advantages which are not available to independent restaurant operators. Functions that are not brand-specific are centralized and pooled, providing significant opportunities to leverage the Company's scale and relationships to reduce operating and capital expenditures and increase efficiency, thereby increasing restaurant profitability. As a result of this support, management believes that it has struck the optimal value balance with franchisees making Recipe the franchisor of choice.

Each Recipe brand benefits from:

- Lower Costs:
  - Recipe has focused and will continue to focus on expense reduction for all central and restaurant-level expense categories, by using its scale, relationships and management discipline:
    - <u>Strategic Sourcing</u>: strategically source all supplies and services, including food products and beverages, to negotiate the best possible prices for its restaurants;
    - Real Estate: negotiate lease terms that are more competitive than what could be negotiated by a franchisee independently by acting as head lessee for franchised locations;

- Other Operating Costs: focus on other expense items such as labour, utilities, repairs, supplies and information technology;
- <u>Construction and Renovation</u>: negotiate construction contracts and oversee renovation projects to reduce costs and minimize construction and renovation time;
- <u>Bank Financing</u>: obtain lower-cost operating and capital financing with banks through Recipe-negotiated national franchisee financing programs; and
- <u>Marketing</u>: provide consolidated marketing services to Recipe's brands, including the purchase of blocks of advertising on television, radio, digital and in print, enabling it to generate more media impressions per marketing dollar spent.
- Strategic Partnerships and Initiatives:
  - Recipe's strategic partnerships and initiatives include:

## SCENE:

- On February 28, 2015, Recipe executed a Marketing Partnership Agreement with SCENE to become SCENE's exclusive restaurant partner;
- SCENE is one of Canada's fastest growing loyalty programs with approximately 9.7 million members;
- with approximately 32% of participating Recipe restaurants within one kilometer and approximately 67% of participating Recipe restaurants within five kilometers of a Cineplex Entertainment movie theatre, management believes this program will add significant value to its brands; and
- Recipe's customers will be able to earn and redeem SCENE points at nine of its brands for food and beverage purchases.

#### <u>Ultimate Dining Card®:</u>

 Recipe's proprietary multi-brand gift card program offers consumers great variety and choice as it is redeemable in most Recipe's brands excluding St-Hubert, The Burger's Priest and The Keg restaurants. Each of The Keg and St-Hubert have their own branded gift cards for sale in restaurant and in retail.

## Canadian Automobile Association ("CAA")

- On September 14, 2015, Recipe executed a Partnership Agreement with CAA; and
- The Partnership Agreement allows Recipe to provide exclusive offers to CAA's approximately 6.2 million members, as its national dining partner.
- Information Technology and Innovation:
  - Recipe provides both restaurant-level technology systems (point of sale, back office systems, payment processing, and security) and a centralized data centre and help desk for maximizing system up-time and performance.

Recipe has developed a multi-year technology roadmap with an aim to lead the
restaurant and hospitality industry. Recipe is executing a digital transformation strategy
that will positively impact all departments, channels and lines of business and above all,
our guest experience:

## **Store Operations**

 Recipe is creating in-house mobile solutions built on industry-leading platforms to provide our franchisees and corporate operators with advanced store analytics, labour scheduling and forecasting, guest feedback, training and operations audits.

## Guest Experience and Off-Premise

Recipe was an early pioneer in direct to home delivery and our off-premise channel
has recently had significant enhancements. Recipe has an industry leading mobile
ordering app for Swiss Chalet, Kelsey's, Montana's and East Side Mario's and is
developing mobile ordering apps for Harvey's and St Hubert to allow for take-out and
delivery or order ahead/pay ahead.

## **Digital Marketing**

 Recipe has formed an inter-department Digital Team that spans IT, Marketing, Creative and Brand teams. Recipe is innovating new marketing technologies on social media platforms, display and search based marketing.

#### Cloud Migration and Big Data

- Recipe is committed to migrating significant portions of its computing infrastructure and data centres to public cloud platforms in order to take advantage of the significant increase in performance, cost advantage and speed of innovation they provide. Recipe is modernizing its analytic capabilities by transforming its traditional data warehouses to cloud-based big data platforms capable of performing real-time analytics on multi-terabyte datasets.
- Know-How and Operational Discipline:
  - Recipe's senior management team, with its extensive retail and restaurant knowledge and experience, is responsible for strategic direction and operational support for Recipe's brands and restaurants;
  - Recipe's brands share information and best practices gained from experience across Recipe's portfolio;
  - Recipe provides centralized training, audit and review processes to ensure quality control
    and consistency across restaurants; highly-trained front-line associates are fundamental
    to providing a high quality guest experience as these individuals represent both the
    particular restaurant and the brand to each guest; and
  - Recipe provides tools and resources for managing labour and monitoring performance.

# **Opportunities for Growth**

At the time of Recipe's IPO in 2015, its 2020 to 2022 System Sales targets were set at \$2.5 billion to \$3.0 billion. These targets were revised upwards in 2016 to \$2.9 billion to \$3.7 billion as a result of Recipe's overall growth, including its acquisition of St-Hubert in 2016. With the KRL merger that closed on

February 22, 2018, \$612 million in System Sales was added, taking Recipe to approximately \$3.4 billion in System Sales in 2018, exceeding the 2015 IPO System Sales targets and placing Recipe well within range of its revised System Sales target range. Management continues to target an Operating EBITDA Margin on System Sales range of between 7% and 8% by 2020 to 2022 (it was 6.4% for Recipe's year ended December 31, 2018). In addition to this tremendous historical growth, Recipe is also excited about future growth opportunities to primarily come from: (i) renovated restaurants; (ii) improving quality of sales by opening new restaurants and closing under-performing restaurants; and (iii) looking for acquisitions as Recipe's net debt level was approximately 1.68 times EBITDA at December 30, 2018, leaving ample room for further acquisitions. As stated above, management also believes there is EBITDA margin growth potential. See "Cautionary Notice Regarding Forward-Looking Information", "Risk Factors — Forward-Looking Information", and "Non-IFRS Measures".

#### Drive SRS Growth

Management believes that Recipe can drive SRS Growth with the following strategies and resources:

- *Menu:* Offer compelling menus of "craveable" food items including appetizers, sides and mains and a variety of beverage choices and new menu items;
- Customer Service: Gather and implement feedback on guest experience so that front line associates are self-aware and have an ability to continually improve customer service;
- Renovations: Update restaurant concepts with brand-appropriate renovations, both interior, exterior and patio (where applicable). Accelerate the rollout of renovations after testing and optimizing new brand-specific renovation concepts in corporate restaurants;
- National Marketing: Recipe seeks to put in place effective marketing programs and make strategic "over-investments" in marketing above and beyond the brands' marketing funds to drive increased traffic with brand specific marketing plans combining traditional, digital and social channels;
- Local Store Marketing: In 2017, Recipe launched a new local store marketing portal that provides more effective local store marketing tools and best practices to help its franchisees and restaurants better connect with guests in their communities;
- Off-Premise Guest Platforms: In 2017, Recipe launched new native, in-house developed ordering apps for Swiss Chalet for Apple, Android and on the web. These were followed with new order apps and websites for East Side Mario's, Kelsey's and Montana's. Collectively, these represent the #1, #2, #3, #4 rated restaurant apps in Canada on the Apple app store. The company is leveraging this platform to launch mobile order ahead for Harvey's and delivery and take out order ahead for St Hubert;
- Media Partnerships: Recipe is building on existing partnerships with key media partners including Facebook and Google. It has also built partnerships and integrations with strategic digital media partners including the Weather Network, TeamSnap and Waze where their users overlap with Recipe customers. These partnership efforts are part of the continued goal of enhancing customer specific marketing and marketing effectiveness;
- Off-Premise Partnerships: Recipe has leveraged and developed strategic partnerships with food and delivery aggregators such as Uber Eats and Skip the Dishes in order to grow delivery sales. In 2018, Recipe expanded these on-line aggregator relationships to over 725 Recipe restaurants to enable customers to place delivery and pick-up orders through the channel and application of their choice;

- Strategic Partnerships: Leverage and pursue strategic partnerships to drive customer traffic.
  In 2019, Recipe will continue to enhance its partnerships with Scene and Canadian
  Automobile Association (CAA) to more effectively leverage the 15.9 million plus Scene and
  CAA member database and customer data to drive new and repeat purchases from these
  partners' members. Recipe management believes these partnerships will, over time, add
  significant value to its brands without any additional significant investment required by
  Recipe;
- Customer Relationship Management (CRM): In 2017, Recipe fully deployed a new CRM tool
  and database management system to market directly to customers and to effectively
  maximize the lifetime value of these guests. With the help of this new CRM tool and
  database, brands can more effectively identify opportunities and put plans in place to drive
  not only new guests but also to grow lifetime value with purchase frequency and order size
  tactics of each consumer segment; and
- Operations Excellence: Recipe has developed an analytics platform that integrates customer
  satisfaction data, sales and operational effectiveness data, and health and safety data from a
  number of disparate data sources. This information is aggregated and presented into store
  and brand-level dashboards that provide franchisees, managers and operators with specific
  information about guest experiences, in their particular restaurants. This data forms a
  foundation of what will become a mobile analytics solution for our franchisees and operators
  to have timely and restaurant specific information at their fingertips to better service guests.

## Add New and Refresh Franchise and Corporate Locations

Recipe's management believes the opportunity exists to expand and refresh Recipe's restaurant network in Canada. During the year ended December 30, 2018, before acquisitions, Recipe completed 61 gross new openings as compared to 56 gross new openings in 2017.

During the year ended December 30, 2018, Recipe closed 56 restaurants (excluding Casey's closures) compared to 44 closures in 2017. Included in the closures were many underperforming locations where the closure will benefit the overall system performance and Recipe's profitability going forward. Closures also included locations that no longer fit the long term strategy of certain brands. Management will continue to review its portfolio of restaurants and will opportunistically close underperforming or non-strategic locations that will benefit the Company long term.

Recipe added 106 restaurants through the year with the KRL merger in 2018. New restaurant openings will consist of both corporate and franchised restaurants, both in new markets where Recipe's restaurants currently do not exist and from the infill of new restaurants in existing, well-developed markets. Management expects that new restaurants for The Landing Group, The Pickle Barrel and select Milestones and The Keg will be corporate restaurants.

Recipe's network growth will be primarily driven by the addition of franchised restaurants. Growth of the East Side Mario's, Swiss Chalet, Harvey's, St-Hubert, and Kelseys brands will be primarily through the development of franchised restaurants. Recipe may seek to own and operate corporate restaurants that have higher sales volumes and greater capital requirements, such as those under The Pickle Barrel and The Landing Group brands. Management expects that The Keg and Milestones will continue to be a mix of franchised and corporate locations. Management expects to selectively open new corporate restaurants with a targeted annual contribution margin from new corporate restaurants of approximately 10% to 15%. As a result, Recipe expects its total corporate contribution margin to steadily increase over the next three to five years.

### Further Improve Network Health and Profitability

Recipe's scale and centralized restaurant support infrastructure will allow it to continue to reduce operating expenses for its corporate and franchised locations. A significant portion of restaurant expenses are fixed in nature, and accordingly, SRS Growth will also improve operating margins. This will in turn improve the investment return for franchisees and thereby facilitate franchisee recruitment. New profitable locations will be added to the network and unprofitable ones closed upon expiry of their lease terms improving the quality of sales. As the network expands, System Sales will grow and contribution to the marketing fund will increase, which should in turn drive more SRS Growth.

As network health and profitability improve and System Sales grow, management believes that Recipe will: (i) reduce the need for franchisee subsidy support, which, combined with the end of certain contractual subsidies, will increase the effective royalty recovery rate from the historical Recipe brands to closer to the 5.0% standard royalty rate as compared to the current recovery rate of approximately 4.0% (St-Hubert's standard royalty rate is 4% and The Keg's standard royalty rate is 6% for all franchises since January 2013), (ii) sustain and grow contribution from corporate restaurants in the range of 10% to 15% of corporate restaurant sales over the next three to five years by (a) sharing key success factors from The Keg by having Mr. Aisenstat assume oversight of Milestones; (b) changing the mix of restaurants by adding select corporate Keg, Landing, and Milestones restaurants to the restaurant portfolio, selling joint venture and corporate restaurants in franchise brands to franchisees and opportunistic closing of non-profitable or non-strategic locations; and (c) improving corporate contribution from Pickle Barrel and Original Joe's Group corporate restaurants as management realizes operating synergies in these brands, which currently operate at lower than the 10% target contribution.

## Pursue Acquisitions / New Concepts

Management will continue to pursue new concepts and acquisitions of brands that complement Recipe's existing brands, are appropriately valued and provide an opportunity to realize additional synergies. For example, in February, 2018, Recipe completed the acquisition of The Keg, which added Canada's leading full-service restaurant operator. Management will also consider: (i) selective limited-service restaurant concepts, and (ii) establishing a presence in the "fast casual" segment. The development and launch of new concepts may provide additional opportunities for growth.

## New Retail Licensing Opportunities

After Recipe's acquisition of St-Hubert, Recipe has increased the number of its products sold through select grocery stores and retail outlets including Sobeys, Wal-Mart and Loblaws to include items such as Swiss Chalet ribs and pot pies, Swiss Chalet Gravy mix, etc. With the acquisition of St-Hubert, Recipe is in the early stages of leveraging its iconic brands and to drive a retail food program across Canada with more grocery offerings without competing with the core menu items offered through its restaurant network. St-Hubert management will continue to lead the Recipe retail food program for all of Canada.

#### Operating Leverage on Sales Growth

Recipe's centralized brand support infrastructure is highly scalable making revenue growth achievable with limited additional overhead costs required. Due to the existing support infrastructure, management expects System Sales to grow at a faster rate than central support costs.

## Strategic Long-Term Shareholder

Fairfax is a leading Canadian holding company with an outstanding track record of being a committed partner. Fairfax's corporate objective is to build long-term shareholder value by achieving a high rate of compound growth in book value per share over the long term. Management believes that

Fairfax is viewed by the Canadian restaurant industry as a "must-call" for market participants initiating a restaurant sales process and is therefore well positioned to identify acquisition opportunities.

## **Recipe's Operations**

## Marketing Excellence

Recipe provides consolidated marketing services to its brands, including the purchase of blocks of advertising on radio, television and print to leverage Recipe's scale, resulting in more impressions for each marketing dollar allocated to media.

Each Recipe brand has a dedicated marketing team which focuses on brand positioning, pricing, promotions and advertising. Marketing initiatives are primarily financed by each brand's marketing fund. Each corporate and franchise location provides a percentage of its gross sales to the relevant brands' marketing fund. The largest portion of the marketing expenditures is spent on regional and national media advertising (television, radio, digital and print) as the most efficient and effective method for brand building by communicating a consistent and regular message to the maximum number of people possible. Each brand also manages local area advertising campaigns that combines social media, community engagement and public relations to increase local brand awareness. In addition to contributing to the brand marketing fund, a franchisee is required to make expenditures on local advertising and promotion of the restaurant. More localized digital and social marketing is being deployed for smaller brands that don't yet have regional or national scale.

Recipe's strategic partnership with SCENE allowed it to become SCENE's exclusive restaurant partner. SCENE is the first and only entertainment rewards program in Canada — points earned on Scotiabank SCENE branded debit and credit card transactions and purchases at Cineplex Entertainment theatres can be redeemed towards Cineplex Entertainment movie tickets, concessions and more. The SCENE program has approximately 9.7 million members, making it one of Canada's fastest growing loyalty programs. Pursuant to the Recipe-SCENE Marketing Partnership Agreement, Recipe's customers will be able to earn and redeem SCENE points at nine of its brands for food purchases. Recipe will have the ability to offer bonus point promotions concurrent with major movie releases at Cineplex Entertainment theatres. With approximately 32% of participating Recipe's restaurants located within one kilometer and approximately 67% of participating Recipe's restaurants within five kilometers of a Cineplex Entertainment movie theatre, management believes that the program will add significant value to Recipe's customers and to its brands over time, without any additional significant investment required by Recipe.

The "Ultimate Dining Card", Recipe's proprietary multi-brand gift card program, offers consumers great variety and choice as it is redeemable in all of Recipe's brands excluding St-Hubert, The Burger's Priest, and The Keg restaurants. The Keg and St-Hubert each have their own branded gift card. The gift cards are widely available for sale, including in Recipe restaurants for the Ultimate Dining Card, in St-Hubert restaurants for the St-Hubert gift card and at The Keg restaurants for The Keg gift card, through third party retailers who sell gift cards, through corporate sales channels and on-line, making the Ultimate Dining Card one of the top selling gift cards in Canada and The Keg's gift card is Canada's leading single branded restaurant gift card.

Recipe's strategic partnership with CAA allows Recipe to provide exclusive offers to CAA's over 6.2 million members, as its national dining partner.

## Strategic Sourcing

Recipe sources food products, beverages and other supplies and services for the benefit of both franchised and corporate restaurants across all brands. Recipe is able to use its scale and relationships with suppliers and distributors to negotiate beneficial prices for Recipe's network of restaurants that cannot generally be obtained if the restaurants were to purchase the items independently. Restaurants then directly order and purchase menu specific products from the Recipe designated vendors based on

their restaurant's requirements. Recipe's franchisees benefit from the favourable pricing made available through these supply arrangements and Recipe earns volume rebates and allowances through these programs.

There are typically multiple supplier or distributor choices for the supplies and services used by Recipe's restaurants. Recipe's supply arrangements use multi-sourcing rather than single-sourcing supply contracts where appropriate for certain products and services. Management believes that Recipe is not dependent on any one supplier for its key products and services. See "Risk Factors".

Recipe also sources and negotiates vendor contracts (service level terms and prices) for other expense categories to provide corporate and franchise restaurants with low-cost options and programs to reduce operating and overhead costs, including occupancy costs, restaurant maintenance and repair contracts, communication and information technology costs, insurance, credit card processing, employee benefits, and bank financing costs.

Fairfax and the Company are parties to a shared services agreement (the "Shared Services Agreement"). Under this agreement, Fairfax is authorized to enter into negotiations on behalf of the Company (and Fairfax associated restaurants) to source shared services and purchasing arrangements for any aspect of Recipe's operations, including food and beverage, information technology, payment processing, marketing and advertising and other logistics. To date, Recipe and Fairfax have not entered into any purchasing arrangements under the Shared Services Agreement.

#### Restaurant Development

Recipe leads in the development of new restaurants for each of its brands by, among other things: (i) identifying suitable franchisee candidates based on experience, commitment and financial capacity; (ii) identifying, securing and managing the acquisition of targeted sites for franchised and corporate restaurants; (iii) negotiating competitive lease terms on behalf of franchisees that are better than the franchisee can obtain independently, by taking advantage of Recipe's scale and by virtue of Recipe being on the headlease; and (iv) overseeing design, construction and renovation of corporate restaurants and setting standards of design, development, construction and renovation for franchised locations. Recipe has strong relationships with the major landlords and real estate developers across Canada and has access to key real estate demographic analytics to ensure that new restaurants are placed in the right locations. Recipe has a franchise sales team consisting of 6 people who are responsible for marketing Recipe's brands to potential franchisees.

As part of Recipe's standardized approach to restaurants, the Company has designs for prototypical restaurants across all brands, which enables new restaurants to be developed quickly and efficiently and allows the Company to rebrand a restaurant location, if necessary, to satisfy local market demands. Recipe also maintains flexibility to convert existing third party restaurants by re-branding them as one of Recipe's brands, and adapting Recipe's standardized design to the restaurant premises. By converting an existing restaurant, Recipe is able to reduce the capital requirements associated with a new location and take advantage of local market opportunities where either an exceptional real estate opportunity exists or it may not be practical to develop a greenfield location.

## Information Technology

Recipe has made significant investments in both restaurant level technology systems and head office and IT infrastructures. For all Recipe brands, the strategy is for restaurant level systems to provide a (i) point of sale ("**POS**") system with a complete and current brand menu, price list and promotional offers for entering customer orders, recording sales and generating payment receipts, (ii) restaurant back-office system to manage labour and food cost, (iii) payment processing systems including "pay-at-the-table" devices and "pay-at-the-door" systems for off-site payment processing, (iv) high level security to protect customer data and transactions from third party intrusion risk and (v) high speed communication systems which enable high performing restaurant Internet connectivity, Guest Wi-Fi and VoIP communications. The network is designed with back-up to minimize downtime at each restaurant.

The POS system provides detailed sales activity reports to Recipe and restaurant managers (including franchisees) in regular intervals, including sales details for individual menu items by restaurant. The POS system allows Recipe to centrally manage menu offerings including menu changes and promotions, so network-wide menu changes can be quickly implemented for new items and limited time offers. The restaurant back office system includes workforce management, which provides a tool for managing labour costs in half hour increments by matching labour requirements to predicted guest counts, and food cost & inventory management modules to help restaurant managers and chefs manage food cost and inventory quantities through detailed comparisons of standard recipe costs to actual costs. The back-office system provides self-serve applications for managers and associates to manage their shift and schedule and manages food supply reordering from Recipe distribution partners and preferred suppliers. Recipe also enables select brands with off-premise ordering capabilities in the form of call center support, digital ordering mobile apps and web sites that integrate with the restaurant POS for a seamless franchisee experience for multi-channel ordering.

Recipe's IT infrastructure combines private and public cloud technologies that provide centralized management to optimize Recipe's restaurant-level systems, to manage and control the data storage and retrieval of all restaurant transactions and to manage Recipe's "high speed and high availability" network. In addition to managing the Recipe communications network and restaurant applications, Recipe's IT team provides 22 x 7 help desk support so franchisees and restaurant managers have technical support at all hours restaurant staff are working. Management believes that Recipe's information technology systems, applications and support provides franchisees with market leading tools to maximize sales and operating margins.

## Franchise Operations

Recipe protects its interests by entering into franchise agreements with franchisees, providing significant training, support and oversight of franchisee operations with the expectation that franchisees are operating in a manner consistent with the Company's values and standards.

# Customer Experience

Recipe focuses extensively on operational excellence to ensure that guests are satisfied each and every time they dine at one of the Company's restaurants and are excited to come back. The Company offers a compelling dining experience across all of its brands by providing great food, attentive service and unique ambiance at competitive prices. Recipe consistently works to improve its customer experience and value offering at both the corporate and franchise level. The Company's quality control standards are of utmost importance and help ensure consistent quality of product at both the brand and individual restaurant level.

Quality control procedures are both internal and external. Internal quality controls include: (i) significant franchisee and associate training; (ii) comprehensive support systems, including regional operational managers and Recipe's shared services infrastructure; (iii) continuous restaurant support audit process by Recipe's internal audit department, which focuses on both operating standards and financial controls; (iv) associate health and safety education and programs; and (v) loss prevention programs.

Third party controls are brand specific and can include: (i) a mystery shopper program, pursuant to which mystery shoppers review restaurants on a regular basis; (ii) a customer feedback program through a third party social media aggregator that provides daily reporting on feedback from customers, thereby allowing Recipe to monitor customer satisfaction at Recipe branded restaurants in order to ensure a perfect guest experience; and (iii) food safety and operational audits completed by both internal operations management and independent third party audit firms.

## Intellectual Property

Recipe owns, directly or indirectly, several key brand names, logos, slogans and products in connection with the Company's operations, including the trademarks for the Recipe corporate name and design, the name and principal design for Swiss Chalet, Harvey's, Montana's, Kelsey's, Milestones, Prime Pubs (including Fionn MacCool's, D'Arcy McGee's, Paddy Flaherty's and Tir nan 'Og), the Bier Markt, East Side Mario's, The Landing Group (including Williams Landing, Harpers Landing, Hunters Landing, Jacksons Landing, Carters Landing, Taylors Landing, Kellys Landing, Arthurs Landing, Owens Landing and Baxters Landing), St-Hubert, Original Joe's, Elephant & Castle, State & Main, The Burger's Priest, The Pickle Barrel, New York Fries, Rose Reisman Catering, Fresh, and Marigolds & Onions. The Company has also trademarked certain of its well-known promotions and slogans, such as The Festive Special (Swiss Chalet) and It's a Beautiful Thing (Harvey's). The Company also has rights in other names, logos, slogans and intellectual property used in connection with its restaurant operations, such as restaurant and menu design. These key brand identifiers strengthen the recognition of Recipe's brands and Recipe's ability to increase future sales by maintaining brand consistency and customer goodwill among the Company's target markets. From time to time, the Company takes action against other parties that it believes are misappropriating Recipe's intellectual property. The Company's policy is to protect and defend vigorously its intellectual property rights in order to preserve the value of its brands.

## **Properties**

There are Recipe-branded restaurants located in each of the provinces of Canada. The majority of the locations are leased, with a typical term of 10 years with a 10 year renewal option. Recipe typically acts as the head lessee for franchised locations. Recipe's lease portfolio is not materially concentrated with any one landlord. St-Hubert owns 25 restaurant properties in Quebec and 2 manufacturing plants, in Boisbriand and Blainville, Québec, and 2 distribution centers, in Anjou and Boisbriand, Québec.

#### **Employees**

Recipe employed over 17,500 people at its head offices in Toronto, Vancouver, Calgary and Montreal as well as at its corporate restaurants, call centers, and manufacturing facilities as at December 30, 2018. A significant portion were part-time hourly employees working at its corporate restaurants. There are 44 collective agreements covering employees at approximately 95 franchised Recipe branded restaurants and one call center. There are 4 corporate restaurants covered by a collective bargaining agreement. Management believes that the Company has good relationships with its employees.

## Seasonality

Recipe's restaurants experience seasonal fluctuations, which are inherent in the restaurant industry in Canada. Seasonal factors such as better weather, which allows Recipe's restaurants to open their patios and which generally encourages customers to get out of their homes, commonly drive an increase in revenue in the spring and summer months compared to the winter period. During the winter period, while the take-out and delivery business generally sustains revenue for the Swiss Chalet and St-Hubert brands, in-restaurant dining at all of the brands generally experiences reduced patronage.

## Government Regulation

Recipe's operations are subject to various federal, provincial and local laws affecting its business, including licensing and regulation regarding liquor, health, smoking, sanitation, safety, fire, building codes and other matters in the provinces or municipalities in which restaurants are located. Developing new limited-service and full-service restaurants in certain locations requires licences and land use approval, and development could be delayed in any given circumstance by difficulties in obtaining such licences and approvals or by more stringent requirements of local government bodies with respect to zoning, land use and licensing.

## Food Product Regulation

Recipe and its suppliers must comply with applicable federal and provincial regulations relating to the manufacturing, preparation and labelling of food products.

## Chicken Marketing Boards

Swiss Chalet and St-Hubert purchases its fresh chicken based on prices established provincially by various provincial chicken marketing boards.

## Regulations Governing Alcoholic Beverages

Liquor control regulations require that Recipe, its subsidiaries or a Recipe franchisee, as the case may be, apply to a provincial or a municipal authority for a licence or permit to sell alcoholic beverages on the premises and, in certain locations, to provide service for extended hours and on Sundays. Licences are subject to renewals, typically on an annual basis, and liquor control regulators retain the right to suspend or revoke authorizations for cause at any time. Alcoholic beverage control regulations relate to numerous aspects of daily operations of a Recipe full-service restaurant, including the minimum age of patrons and employees, service standards, hours of operation, advertising, purchasing, inventory control, and handling, storage and dispensing of alcoholic beverages.

## Franchise Regulation

Certain provinces have enacted laws and regulations that require certain disclosure to be made with respect to the offer, sale and renewal of franchises. These laws require that Recipe furnish prospective and renewing Recipe franchisees with a disclosure document containing information prescribed by these laws.

## **Employment Regulations**

Recipe and franchisees of Recipe restaurants are subject to provincial labour and employment laws that govern their relationship with associates, such as minimum wage requirements, overtime and working conditions.

#### Regulations Governing Smoking

Recipe restaurants are subject to various laws that prohibit or limit smoking on the premises and that impose fines for failure to adhere to such laws.

#### Menu Labelling

On January 1, 2017, Ontario enacted new menu labelling legislation that has the effect of requiring Recipe brands with more than 20 locations in Ontario to list the calorie content of its standard food items on all menus and certain advertising.

#### <u>Competition</u>

The Canadian commercial foodservice industry is highly competitive. Competition with Recipe's brands may come from established chains and potential new market entrants, including restaurant chains based in the United States and other regions of Canada. Competition, in the broadest perspective, includes limited-service restaurants and full-service restaurants, coffee shops, take-out operations, delivery operations and grocery stores that offer home meal replacements. More specifically, each Recipe brand competes within its segment (quick service, fast casual, midscale or casual/upscale casual dining). The principal competitors to each Recipe brand vary from market to market and include independent operators, as well as regional and national chains.

Recipe competes with other restaurants for attractive real estate sites as well as for qualified individuals as potential franchisees. Competition for customers is based on quality, variety and value perception of the menu items, as well as through the perception of the quality of the dining experience, including restaurant location and quality of facilities.

#### **DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STRUCTURE**

The following is a summary of the material attributes and characteristics of the Company's authorized share capital.

The Company's authorized share capital consists of (i) an unlimited number of multiple voting shares ("Multiple Voting Shares") that may only be issued to Fairfax and the Phelan family through Cara Holdings Limited and its affiliates (each, a "Principal Shareholder Group" and, together, the "Principal Shareholders"), (ii) an unlimited number of Subordinate Voting Shares and (iii) an unlimited number of preference shares ("Preference Shares"), issuable in series. As at March 19, 2019, there were 27,306,729 Subordinate Voting Shares, 34,396,284 Multiple Voting Shares and no Preference Shares outstanding. Except as provided in any special rights or restrictions attaching to any series of Preference Shares issued from time to time, the holders of Preference Shares will not be entitled to receive notice of, attend or vote at any meeting of the shareholders of the Company. The Subordinate Voting Shares and the Preference Shares may, at the option of the Company, be issued in fully registered form, in bearer form, or in "book-entry" form.

The Subordinate Voting Shares are "restricted securities" within the meaning of such term under applicable Canadian securities laws. Under applicable Canadian law, an offer to purchase Multiple Voting Shares would not necessarily require that an offer be made to purchase Subordinate Voting Shares. In accordance with the rules of the TSX, the Company entered into a coattail agreement on April 10, 2015 with the Principal Shareholders and a trustee (the "Coattail Agreement"). The Coattail Agreement is designed to ensure that, in the event of a take-over bid, the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares will be entitled to participate on an equal footing with holders of Multiple Voting Shares. The Coattail Agreement contains provisions customary for dual class, TSX-listed companies designed to prevent transactions that would otherwise deprive the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares of rights under applicable provincial take-over bid legislation to which they would have been entitled if the Multiple Voting Shares had been Subordinate Voting Shares.

## **Multiple Voting Shares and Subordinate Voting Shares**

## Dividend Rights

Holders of Multiple Voting Shares and Subordinate Voting Shares will be entitled to receive dividends out of the assets of the Company legally available for the payment of dividends at such times and in such amount and form as the board of directors of the Company (the "**Board**") may from time to time determine and the Company will pay dividends thereon on a *pari passu* basis, if, as and when declared by the Board.

#### Voting Rights

The Multiple Voting Shares will be entitled to 25 votes per Multiple Voting Share, and the Subordinate Voting Shares will be entitled to one vote per Subordinate Voting Share.

#### Automatic Conversion of Multiple Voting Shares

A Multiple Voting Share will convert, without any further action on the part of the Company or the holder of such Multiple Voting Shares, automatically into a Subordinate Voting Share on a one-for-one basis in the event that such Multiple Voting Share is transferred to, or held by any person that is not a

Permitted Assign, as such term is defined in a shareholders agreement dated April 10, 2015 between the Company and the holders of the Multiple Voting Shares (the "**Principal Shareholders Agreement**").

All Multiple Voting Shares held directly or indirectly by the Phelan Group Shareholders, as such term is defined in the Principal Shareholders Agreement, will convert, without any further action on the part of the Company or the holder of such Multiple Voting Shares, into Subordinate Voting Shares on the date on which the Phelan Group Shareholders beneficially own, directly or indirectly and in the aggregate, less than 50% of the number of Multiple Voting Shares held by them on April 10, 2015, as amended, being the closing date of the IPO (subject to adjustment in the case of share splits, consolidations or similar changes affecting the number of outstanding Multiple Voting Shares).

All Multiple Voting Shares will convert, without any further action on the part of the Company or the holder of such Multiple Voting Shares, into Subordinate Voting Shares on the date on which the Fairfax Group Shareholders, as such term is defined in the Principal Shareholders Agreement, beneficially own, directly or indirectly and in the aggregate, less than 50% of the number of Multiple Voting Shares held by them on April 10, 2015 (subject to adjustment in the case of share splits, consolidations or similar changes affecting the number of outstanding Multiple Voting Shares).

## Meetings of Shareholders

Holders of Multiple Voting Shares and Subordinate Voting Shares will be entitled to receive notice of any meeting of shareholders and may attend and vote at such meetings, except those meetings where only the holders of shares of another class or of a particular series are entitled to vote. A quorum for the transaction of business at a meeting of shareholders shall be two persons present and each entitled to vote at the meeting who, together, hold or represent by proxy not less than 15% of the votes attaching to the outstanding voting securities of the Company entitled to vote at the meeting.

## Pre-Emptive, Redemption and Conversion Rights

Holders of Subordinate Voting Shares will have no pre-emptive, redemption or conversion rights. Other than as described below, holders of Multiple Voting Shares will have no pre-emptive rights. Multiple Voting Shares, however, are convertible at any time at the option of the holder into fully-paid, non-assessable Subordinate Voting Shares on a one-for-one basis. In accordance with the Company's amended articles, Multiple Voting Shares may only be issued to the Principal Shareholders or their Affiliates, as such term is defined in the Principal Shareholders Agreement.

In the event that the Company decides to issue additional Subordinate Voting Shares or securities convertible into or exchangeable for Subordinate Voting Shares or an option or other right to acquire any such securities ("Issued Securities"), the articles of the Company provide each Principal Shareholder Group, for as long as each such Principal Shareholder Group owns, in the aggregate, at least 50% of the Multiple Voting Shares owned by such Principal Shareholder Group on April 10, 2015 (subject to adjustment in the case of share splits, consolidations or similar changes affecting the number of outstanding Multiple Voting Shares), with pre-emptive rights to purchase that number of Issued Securities as is necessary to maintain, after such issuance of Issued Securities, each such Principal Shareholder Group's effective pro rata voting interest prior to the issuance of the Issued Securities. The pre-emptive right will not apply to the issuance of Subordinate Voting Shares in certain circumstances, including: (i) in respect of the exercise of options, warrants, rights or other securities issued under the Company's security-based compensation arrangements; (ii) in connection with a subdivision of thenoutstanding Subordinate Voting Shares into a greater number of Subordinate Voting Shares, provided that an equivalent change is made to the Multiple Voting Shares; (iii) the issuance of equity securities of the Company in lieu of cash dividends, if any; (iv) the exercise by a holder of a conversion, exchange or other similar privilege pursuant to the terms of a security in respect of which such Principal Shareholder Group did not exercise, failed to exercise, or waived its pre-emptive right or in respect of which the preemptive right did not apply; (v) pursuant to a shareholders' rights plan of the Company, if any; and (vi) to any subsidiary of the Company or an affiliate of any of them.

If the Company proposes to offer for sale any Issued Securities, the Company will deliver a written notice to each Principal Shareholder Group offering the opportunity to subscribe for Issued Securities pursuant to the pre-emptive rights described above. In order to exercise such rights, a Principal Shareholder Group must respond within the applicable time period provided in the articles of the Company. Each Principal Shareholder Group will be entitled to subscribe for Issued Securities pursuant to the exercise of such pre-emptive rights at the same price and on the most favourable terms as such Issued Securities are to be offered to any party, excluding commissions and other transaction expenses paid by the Company.

## Liquidation Rights

Upon the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, the holders of Multiple Voting Shares and Subordinate Voting Shares, without preference or distinction, will be entitled to receive rateably all of the Company's assets remaining after payment of all debts and other liabilities, subject to the prior rights of the holders of any other prior ranking shares that may be outstanding at such time.

## Subdivision, Consolidation and Issuance of Rights

No subdivision or consolidation of the Multiple Voting Shares or Subordinate Voting Shares may occur unless the shares of both classes are concurrently subdivided or consolidated and in the same manner and proportion. Other than as described in this AIF, no new rights to acquire additional shares or other securities or property of the Company will be issued to holders of Multiple Voting Shares or Subordinate Voting Shares unless the same rights are concurrently issued to the holders of shares of both classes.

#### Nomination of Directors

The Company's by-laws provide that the Company will have eight directors. Pursuant to the bylaws, each of the Principal Shareholders will be entitled to identify four director nominees for election and the Principal Shareholders have agreed that they will vote the Multiple Voting Shares held by them for the election of such nominees.

## **Preference Shares**

Preference Shares may at any time and from time to time be issued in one or more series, each series to consist of such number of Preference Shares as may, before the issue thereof, be determined by resolution of the Board. Subject to the provisions of the OBCA, the Board may, by resolution, fix from time to time before the issue thereof the designation, rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to the Preference Shares of each series including, without limitation, any right to receive dividends (which may be cumulative or non-cumulative and variable or fixed) or the means of determining such dividends, the dates of payment thereof, any terms or conditions of redemption or purchase, any conversion rights, any retraction rights, any rights on the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company and any sinking fund or other provisions, the whole to be subject to the filing of articles of amendment setting forth the designation, rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to the Preference Shares of the series. Except as required by law, the Preference Shares will not be entitled to receive notice of, attend or vote at any meeting of the shareholders of the Company.

Preference Shares of each series, if and when issued, will generally, with respect to the payment of dividends, rank on a parity with the Preference Shares of every other series and will be entitled to preference over the Multiple Voting Shares, the Subordinate Voting Shares or any other shares of the Company ranking junior to the Preference Shares with respect to payment of dividends. If any amount of cumulative dividends (whether or not declared) or any amount payable on any such distribution of assets constituting a return of capital in respect of the Preference Shares of any series is not paid in full, the

Preference Shares of such series shall participate rateably with the Preference Shares of every other series in respect of all such dividends and amounts.

In the event of liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, the holders of Preference Shares will generally be entitled to preference with respect to distribution of the property or assets of the Company over the Multiple Voting Shares, the Subordinate Voting Shares or any other shares of the Company ranking junior to the Preference Shares with respect to the repayment of paid-up capital remaining after payment of all outstanding debts on a *pro rata* basis, and the payment of any or all declared but unpaid cumulative dividends, or any or all declared but unpaid non-cumulative dividends, on the Preference Shares. The Company currently anticipates that there will be no pre-emptive, subscription, redemption or conversion rights attaching to any series of Preference Shares issued from time to time.

#### **Normal Couse Issuer Bid**

On June 20, 2018, the Company announced a notice of intention to make a normal course issuer bid ("**NCIB**") for its Subordinate Voting Shares. Under its NCIB, the Company is permitted to purchase up to 1,907,816 Subordinate Voting Shares during the period from June 22, 2018 to June 22, 2019. Purchases of Subordinate Voting Shares are made at market prices and any Subordinate Voting Shares purchased through the NCIB will be cancelled. For the year ended December 30, 2018, the Company purchased and cancelled 634,850 Subordinate Voting Shares for \$16.2 million.

#### **RISK FACTORS**

Prospective investors in the Company's securities should carefully consider the following risks, as well as other information contained in this AIF. Other risks and uncertainties that the Company does not presently consider to be material, or of which the Company is not presently aware, may become important factors that affect the Company's future financial condition and results of operations. The occurrence of any of the risks discussed below could materially adversely affect the business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations or cash flow of the Company including the Company's ability to declare and pay cash dividends. The Company's securities are only suitable for investors (i) who understand the potential risk of capital loss, (ii) for whom an investment in the Company's securities is part of a diversified investment program, and (iii) who fully understand and are willing to assume the risks involved in such an investment program. Prospective purchasers of the Company's securities should carefully consider the following risks before investing in the Company.

# Risks Related to the Canadian Restaurant Industry or the Company's Restaurants

#### Restaurant Industry

The financial performance of the Company is subject to a number of factors that affect the commercial food service industry generally and the full-service restaurant and limited-service restaurant segments of this industry in particular. The Canadian restaurant industry is intensely competitive with respect to price, value proposition, service, location and food quality. There are many well-established competitors, including those with greater financial and other resources than the Company. Competitors include national and regional chains, as well as numerous individually owned restaurants. Recently, competition has increased in the mid-price, full-service, casual dining segment of this industry in which many of the Company's restaurants operate. Some of the Company's competitors may have restaurant brands with longer operating histories or may be better established in markets where the Company's restaurants are located or may be located. If the Company is unable to successfully compete in the segments of the Canadian restaurant industry in which it operates, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company may be adversely affected.

The Canadian restaurant industry business is also affected by changes in demographic trends, traffic patterns, and the type, number and locations of competing restaurants. In addition, factors such as inflation, increased food, labour and benefit costs, and the availability of experienced management and

hourly employees may adversely affect the restaurant industry in general and the Company in particular. Changing consumer preferences and discretionary spending patterns and factors affecting the availability of certain foodstuffs could force the Company to modify its restaurant content and menu and could result in a reduction of revenue. Even if the Company is able to successfully compete with other restaurant companies, it may be forced to make changes in one or more of its concepts in order to respond to changes in consumer tastes or dining patterns. If the Company changes a restaurant concept, it may lose additional customers who do not prefer the new concept and menu, and it may not be able to attract a sufficient new customer base to produce the revenue needed to make the restaurant profitable. Similarly, the Company may have different or additional competitors for its intended customers as a result of such a concept change and may not be able to successfully compete against such competitors. The Company's success also depends on numerous other factors affecting discretionary consumer spending, including general economic conditions, disposable consumer income, consumer confidence and consumer concerns over food safety, the genetic origin of food products, public health issues and related matters. Adverse changes in these factors could reduce quest traffic or impose practical limits on pricing, either of which could reduce revenue and operating income, which would adversely affect the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

## Competition with Other Franchisors

The Company competes with other companies, including other well-capitalized franchisors with extensive financial, technological, marketing and personnel resources and high brand name recognition and awareness. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to respond to various competitive factors affecting the franchise operations of the Company.

## Quality Control and Health Concerns

The Company's business can be materially and adversely affected by publicity resulting from illness, injury, cleanliness, poor food quality or safety or any other health concerns or operating issues relating to a single restaurant or a limited number of restaurants. Such publicity or concerns could reduce guest traffic at one or more restaurants, reducing gross revenues of the restaurant. The Company has a number of procedures in place for managing food safety and quality. Nevertheless, the risk of food borne illness or contamination cannot be completely eliminated. The risk of illnesses associated with our food might also increase in connection with the expansion of our catering business following the acquisitions of The Pickle Barrel and M&O. Any outbreak of such illness or contamination at a restaurant or within the food service industry more generally (even if it does not affect any of the restaurants in the Recipe network), or the perception of such an outbreak, could have a material adverse effect on the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

#### Security Breaches of Confidential Guest Information

The Company's business requires the collection, transmission and retention of large volumes of guest and employee data, including credit and debit card numbers and other personally identifiable information, in various information technology systems that the Company maintains and in those maintained by third parties with whom the Company contracts to provide services. The integrity and protection of that guest and employee data is critical to the Company. Further, the Company's guests and employees have a high expectation that the Company and its service providers will adequately protect their personal information.

The information, security and privacy requirements imposed by governmental regulation are increasingly demanding. The Company's systems may not be able to satisfy these changing requirements and guest and employee expectations, or may require significant additional investments or time in order to do so. Efforts to hack or breach security measures, failures of systems or software to operate as designed or intended, viruses, operator error or inadvertent releases of data all threaten the Company and its service provider's information systems and records. A breach in the security of the Company's information technology systems or those of the Company's service providers could lead to an interruption in the operation of its systems, resulting in operational inefficiencies or a loss of revenues or

profits. Additionally, a significant theft, loss or misappropriation of, or access to, guests' or other proprietary data or other breach of the Company's information technology systems could result in fines, legal claims or proceedings, including regulatory investigations and actions, or liability for failure to comply with privacy and information security laws, which could disrupt the Company's operations, damage its reputation and expose it to claims from guests and employees, any of which could have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition and results of operations.

# Public Safety Issues

Adverse conditions, such as the threat of terrorist attacks, acts of war, pandemics or other outbreaks or perceived outbreaks of disease (including avian flu, H2N1, SARS or mad cow disease), may have a negative impact on the restaurant industry and the economy in general. These incidents can adversely affect restaurant traffic, discretionary consumer spending and consumer confidence, which may result in decreased patronage in the Company's restaurants or force the Company to reduce or cap prices. The occurrence, re-occurrence, continuation or escalation of such local, regional, national or international events or circumstances could reduce revenue for the Company which could have an adverse effect on its financial condition and results of operations.

#### Damage to the Company's Reputation

There has been a marked increase in the use of social media platforms and similar channels, including weblogs (blogs), social media websites and other forms of Internet-based communications that provide individuals with access to a broad audience of consumers and other interested persons. The availability and impact of information on social media platforms is virtually immediate and many social media platforms publish user-generated content without filters or independent verification as to the accuracy of the content posted. The opportunity for dissemination of information, including inaccurate information, is seemingly limitless and readily available. Information concerning the Company or one or more of its brands may be posted on such platforms at any time. Information posted may be adverse to the Company's interests or may be inaccurate, each of which may harm the Company's performance, prospects or business. The harm may be immediate without affording the Company an opportunity for redress or correction.

Ultimately, the risks associated with any such negative publicity or incorrect information cannot be completely eliminated or mitigated and may materially harm the Company's reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations.

## Availability and Quality of Raw Materials; Reliance on Suppliers

Sales by Recipe's restaurants and food distribution business are dependent upon the availability and quality of the raw materials, food, services and products used in the products sold by such restaurants and food distribution business. The availability and price of these commodities are subject to fluctuation and may be affected by a variety of factors affecting the supply and demand of the raw materials used in these products.

Unfavourable trends or developments, including among others, fluctuations in the price of raw materials, a significant reduction in the availability or quality of raw materials purchased by restaurants and food distribution business, the unavailability of certain products, transportation disruptions, strikes, lock-outs, labour unrest and financial difficulties affecting the Company's suppliers, may cause a significant reduction in the availability or quality of products or services purchased by restaurants and food distribution business in Recipe's network. There is no assurance that the Company will be able to find alternate suppliers, which could have a material adverse impact and/or other adverse effects on the Company and restaurants in its network.

## Growth of the Company; Franchisees

The growth of the Company is dependent upon the ability of the Company to (i) maintain and grow the current system of franchised and corporate-owned restaurants, (ii) execute its current strategy for growth, (iii) locate new retail sites in prime locations and (iv) obtain qualified operators to become franchisees. The Company faces competition for retail locations and franchisees from its competitors and from franchisors of other businesses. The Company's inability to successfully obtain qualified franchisees could adversely affect its business development. The opening and success of franchised restaurants is dependent upon a number of factors, including availability of suitable sites, operating costs, negotiations of acceptable lease or purchase terms for new locations, permitting and government regulatory compliance and the ability to meet construction schedules. Prospective franchisees may not have all the business abilities or access to financial resources necessary to open a franchise or to successfully develop or operate a Company restaurant in a manner consistent with the Company's standards.

The Company provides training and support to franchisees, but the quality of franchised operations may be diminished by any number of factors beyond the Company's control. Consequently, franchisees may not successfully operate outlets in a manner consistent with the Company's standards and requirements, or may not hire and train qualified managers and other restaurant personnel. If they do not, the image and reputation of the Company may suffer, and sales of restaurants in Recipe's network could decline. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to effectively manage its expanding operations.

#### Franchise Fees and Other Revenue

The Company's financial performance is dependent, in part, on its franchisees' ability to generate revenue and to pay franchise fees, royalties and other amounts to the Company. Failure to achieve adequate levels of collection from franchisees could have a material effect on the revenue and cash flow of the Company.

Under various provincial franchise statutes, a franchisee may rescind a franchise agreement for late or lack of proper provision of a disclosure document (as defined under the applicable statute) within certain prescribed time periods. Rescission claims by such franchisees could have a material adverse effect on the revenue of the Company.

#### Franchisee Relations

The Company's success is dependent on its relationship with its franchisees. There can be no assurances that the Company will be able to maintain positive relationships with all of its franchisees. In addition, in certain jurisdictions in which the Company has restaurants, franchisees are permitted to establish associations among themselves. There can be no assurances that franchisees have not or will not in the future organize an association in order to act together to lobby the Company. Adverse publicity resulting from such activities may affect the sales of the restaurants, regardless of whether such publicity is accurate. In addition, any challenges in the relationships with franchisees may have an adverse impact on the performance of affected restaurants and the ability of the Company to undertake new initiatives, and could result in the diversion of management resources and increased administrative costs.

For certain franchisees, the Company acts as the "head lessee" under the lease for the restaurant. A default by the franchisee under the lease could result in increased costs and could have a negative impact on the Company's business and results of operations. The Company from time to time is also subject to litigation claims from franchisees. See "Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Actions".

#### Revenue Reporting Risks

Certain franchisees report sales to the Company on an ongoing basis via the Company's central POS system. There can be no assurance, however, that sales reported by franchisees are accurate and

in accordance with the terms of the franchise agreements, which could have a negative impact on revenues and cash flows.

#### Opening New Restaurants

The consumer target area of the Company's restaurants varies by location, depending on a number of factors, including population density, other local retail and business attractions, area demographics and geography. As a result, the opening of a new restaurant in or near markets in which the Company already has restaurants could adversely impact sales at the Company's existing restaurants. Existing restaurants could also make it more difficult to build the Company's consumer base for a new restaurant in the same market. The opening and success of a new restaurant will also be dependent on a number of factors, including availability of suitable sites, negotiation of acceptable lease or purchase terms for new locations, permitting and government regulatory compliance and the ability to meet construction schedules.

The Company may not be able to support sustained new restaurant growth or open all of its planned new restaurants, and the new restaurants that the Company does open may not be profitable or as profitable as its existing restaurants. New restaurants typically experience an adjustment period before sales levels and operating margins normalize, and even sales at successful newly-opened restaurants generally do not make a significant contribution to profitability in their initial months of operation. The opening of new restaurants can also have an adverse effect on sales levels at existing restaurants.

#### Potential Inability to Consummate Acquisitions

The Company does not currently have any agreement or commitment to acquire any businesses. However, Recipe continues to seek opportunities to acquire or invest in restaurant businesses, such as its recent investments in The Keg and Fresh, that could expand, complement or otherwise relate to its current or future restaurant operations. Recipe may also consider, from time to time, opportunities to engage in business collaborations with third parties to address particular purchasing requirements, such as the Shared Services Agreement. The pursuit of these activities may divert the attention of management and cause the Company to incur various expenses in identifying, investigating and pursuing suitable acquisitions or business arrangements, whether or not they are consummated. The Company may also be precluded from pursuing such transactions as a result of financial or other covenants in agreements to which it is a party. The Shared Services Agreement, in particular, includes provisions that would restrict the Company from engaging in negotiations with respect to a potential investment in certain Canadian foodservice companies if Fairfax is already engaged in negotiations with respect to that opportunity. In these circumstances, the interests of Fairfax (and of other restaurant operators in which it may hold an investment, such as The Keg), may conflict with the Company's interests.

# Integration of Acquisitions and Brand Expansion

The consummation of an acquisition, investment or other business collaboration may create risks such as: (i) the need to integrate and manage the businesses, brands and/or products acquired with the Company's business, brands and products; (ii) additional demands on the Company's resources, systems, procedures and controls, (iii) disruption of the Company's ongoing business, (iv) adverse effects on the Company's existing business relationships; and (v) potential loss of key employees. While each of the Company's brands and restaurants are subject to the risks and uncertainties described herein, there is an enhanced level of risk and uncertainty related to the operation and expansion of the Company's smaller, newer brands, such as The Landing Group and any future-acquired brands. These brands and business ventures may have not yet proven their long-term viability or growth potential and will continue to be subject to the risks that accompany any new restaurant brand or new business initiative.

Moreover, an acquisition, investment or other business collaboration could involve: (i) substantial investment of funds or financings by issuance of debt or equity securities; (ii) substantial investment with respect to technology transfers and operational integration; and (iii) the acquisition or disposition of product lines or businesses. Also, such activities could result in one-time charges and expenses and have

the potential to either dilute the interests of existing shareholders or result in the issuance of, or assumption of, debt. Such acquisitions, investments or other business collaborations may involve significant commitments of the Company's financial and other resources. Any such activity may not be successful in generating revenue, income or other returns to the Company. Additionally, if the Company is unable to access capital markets on acceptable terms or at all, the Company may not be able to consummate acquisitions, or may have to do so on the basis of a less than optimal capital structure. The Company's inability to (i) take advantage of growth opportunities for its business or its products, or (ii) address risks associated with acquisitions or investments in businesses, may negatively affect its operating results. Finally, any impairment of goodwill or other intangible assets acquired in an acquisition or in an investment, or charges to earnings associated with any acquisition or investment activity, may materially reduce Recipe's earnings which, in turn, may have a material adverse effect on the price of the Subordinate Voting Shares. If the Company does complete such transactions, it cannot be sure that it will ultimately strengthen its competitive position or that it will not be viewed negatively by customers, security analysts or investors.

#### Retail Licensing Opportunities

Recipe sells a number of branded and private label products through grocery stores and other retail outlets. There can be no assurance that Recipe will be successful in identifying or in capitalizing on opportunities to expand sales of its manufactured retail products or to introduce additional branded or private label products in the manner and on the timelines anticipated by management or at all.

#### Fully-Integrated Supply Chain

Through the acquisition of St-Hubert, Recipe operates a fully-integrated food manufacturing and distribution business, in which it manufactures warehouses and distributes certain food and restaurant supplies to its franchise and corporate restaurants. There are certain risks associated with this vertical integration, including (i) delays and/or difficulties associated with, or liabilities arising from, owning a manufacturing, warehouse and distribution business; (ii) maintenance, operations and/or management of the manufacturing facilities, equipment, employees and inventories; (iii) limitations on the flexibility of controlling capital expenditures and overhead; (iv) the need for skills and techniques that are outside Recipe's traditional core expertise; (v) increased transportation, shipping, food and other supply costs; (vi) inclement weather or extreme weather events; (vii) shortages or interruptions in the availability or supply of perishable food products and/or their ingredients; (viii) variations in the quality of food and beverage products and/or their ingredients; and (ix) political, physical, environmental, labor, or technological disruptions in our manufacturing facilities or equipment.

If Recipe does not adequately address the challenges related to these vertically integrated operations or the overall level of utilization or production decreases for any reason, Recipe's results of operations and financial condition may be adversely impacted. Moreover, shortages or interruptions in the availability and delivery of food, beverages and other suppliers to Recipe's restaurants may increase costs or reduce revenues.

#### Seasonality and Weather

The restaurant industry is affected by weather and seasonal conditions. Adverse or unusual weather patterns may negatively affect operations of businesses in the restaurant industry. Favourable weather tends to increase guest traffic at the Company's restaurants, particularly in summer seasons at restaurants with patios or outdoor seating. Additionally, certain holidays and observances also affect guest dining patterns, both favourably or unfavourably.

Dependence on frequent deliveries of fresh produce and groceries subjects businesses in the restaurant industry to the risk that shortages or interruptions in supply caused by adverse weather conditions could adversely affect the availability, quality and cost of ingredients. Severe cold weather increases consumption of electricity and may cause an increase in oil and natural gas prices, which may result in markedly higher utility prices for the Company's restaurants. Severe hot weather leads to higher

air conditioning costs. Any one of these consequences of adverse or unusual weather conditions, as well as water or electricity supply disruptions, may adversely affect the operations of the Company's restaurants by increasing operating costs and/or reducing revenue.

## Regulations Governing Alcoholic Beverages

A portion of the Company's revenue is attributable to the sale of alcoholic beverages and the ability to serve such beverages is an important factor in attracting customers. Alcoholic beverage control regulations require each restaurant to apply to provincial and/or municipal authorities for a licence or permit to sell alcoholic beverages on the premises and, in certain locations, to provide service for extended hours and on Sundays. Typically, licences must be renewed annually and may be revoked or suspended for cause at any time. Alcoholic beverage control regulations relate to numerous aspects of daily operations of restaurants including minimum age of patrons and employees, hours of operation, advertising, wholesale purchasing, inventory control and handling and storage and dispensing of alcoholic beverages.

The failure of the Company or a restaurant to retain a licence to serve liquor could adversely affect the restaurant's operations and reduce the Company's revenue. Changes to laws regulating alcoholic beverages may also adversely affect operations of restaurants and reduce the Company's revenue by increasing costs, reducing the potential customer base or reducing the hours of operations of such restaurants.

The Company or a restaurant may be subject in certain provinces to "dram-shop" statutes, which generally provide a person injured by an intoxicated person the right to recover damages from an establishment that wrongfully served alcoholic beverages to the intoxicated person. The Company carries liquor liability coverage as part of its existing comprehensive general liability insurance.

## Product Safety and Public Health

Sale of the Company's products may expose it to risks associated with product safety and defects and product handling in relation to the manufacturing, packaging and labeling, storage, distribution, and display of products. The Company cannot assure that active management of these risks, including maintaining strict and rigorous controls and processes in its manufacturing facilities, storage, refrigeration and distribution systems, will eliminate all the risks related to food and product safety. The Company could be adversely affected in the event of a significant outbreak of food-borne illness or food safety issues including food tampering or contamination. In addition, failure to trace or locate any contaminated or defective products could affect the Company's ability to be effective in a recall situation. The Company is also subject to risk associated with errors made through medication dispensing or errors related to patient services or consultation. The occurrence of such events or incidents, as well as the failure to maintain the cleanliness and health standards at store level, could result in harm to customers, negative publicity or could adversely affect the Company's brands, reputation, operations or financial performance and could lead to unforeseen liabilities from legal claims or otherwise.

#### Regulatory Compliance

The Company is subject to a wide variety of laws, regulations and orders across all countries in which it does business, including those laws involving product liability, labour and employment, anti-trust and competition, food safety, intellectual property, privacy, environmental and other matters. The Company is subject to taxation by various taxation authorities in Canada and the United States. Changes to any of the laws, rules, regulations or policies applicable to the Company's business, including tax laws, and laws affecting the production, processing, preparation, distribution, packaging and labelling of food, beverages and general merchandise products, could adversely affect the operations or financial condition or performance of the Company.

Failure by the Company to comply with applicable laws, regulations and orders could subject the Company to civil or regulatory actions, investigations or proceedings, including fines, assessments, injunctions, recalls or seizures, which in turn could adversely affect reputation, operations or financial condition or performance of the Company. In the course of complying with changes to laws, the Company could incur significant costs. Changing laws or interpretations of such laws or enhanced enforcement of existing laws could restrict the Company's operations or profitability and thereby threaten the Company's competitive position and ability to efficiently conduct business.

The Company is subject to tax audits from various tax authorities on an ongoing basis. As a result, from time to time, tax authorities may disagree with the positions and conclusions taken by the Company in its tax filings or legislation could be amended or interpretations of current legislation could change, any of which events could lead to reassessments. These reassessments could result in a material adverse effect on the Company's reputation, operations or financial condition or performance.

# Laws Concerning Employees

The operations of restaurants are subject to minimum wage laws governing such matters as working conditions, overtime and tip credits. Significant numbers of restaurants' food service and preparation personnel are paid at rates related to the minimum wage and, accordingly, further increases in the minimum wage could increase the restaurants' labour costs. The franchisees may also hire foreign workers through the Canadian federal government's Temporary Foreign Worker Program, and accordingly, changes to this program could increase labour costs.

## Dependence on Key Personnel

The success of the Company depends upon the personal efforts of senior management, including their ability to retain and attract appropriate franchisee candidates. The loss of the services of such key personnel could have a material effect on the operations of the Company. In addition, the Company's continued growth depends on its ability to attract and retain skilled management and employees and the ability of its key personnel to manage the Company's growth. Certain key personnel are not bound by non-competition covenants. If such personnel depart the Company and subsequently compete with the Company or determine to devote significantly more time to other business interests, such activities could have a material adverse effect on the Company's results of operations.

## Attracting and Retaining Quality Employees

The Company and its franchisees' business is dependent upon attracting and retaining a large number of quality employees who reflect the Company's various brand images and culture. Many of these employees are in entry level or part-time positions with historically high rates of turnover. The inability of the Company and its franchisees to hire, train and retain employees may adversely affect the operations of the Company's restaurants and could have a material adverse effect on the Company's revenue.

The Company's ability to meet its labour needs while controlling the costs associated with hiring and training new employees is subject to external factors such as unemployment levels, prevailing wage rates, minimum wage legislation and changing demographics. Changes that adversely impact the Company's ability to attract and retain quality employees could adversely affect its business.

#### Unionization Activities May Disrupt Company Operations

Although only the employees at approximately 85 franchised restaurants, 5 corporate restaurants, 2 manufacturing plants, in Boisbriand and Blainville, Québec, and 2 distribution centers, in Anjou and Boisbriand, Québec are currently covered under collective bargaining agreements, the Company's employees may elect to be represented by labour unions in the future. If a significant number of the Company's employees were to become unionized and collective bargaining agreement terms were significantly different from the Company's current compensation arrangements, it could adversely affect

the Company's business, financial condition or results of operations. In addition, a labour dispute involving some or all of the Company's employees or the employees of franchisees may harm Recipe's reputation, disrupt its operations and reduce its revenues, and resolution of disputes may increase its costs. Further, if the Company enters into a new market with unionized construction companies, or the construction companies in the Company's current markets become unionized, construction and build out costs for new Company restaurants in such markets could materially increase.

## Reliance on Information Technology

The Company relies heavily on information systems, including point-of-sale processing in its restaurants, for management of its supply chain, accounting, payment of obligations, collection of cash, credit and debit card transactions, upkeep of Recipe's in-house call center and other processes and procedures. The Company's ability to efficiently and effectively manage its business depends significantly on the reliability and capacity of these systems. The Company's operations depend upon its ability to protect its computer equipment and systems against damage from physical theft, fire, power loss, telecommunications failure or other catastrophic events, as well as from internal and external security breaches, viruses and other disruptive problems. The failure of these systems to operate effectively, maintenance problems, upgrading or transitioning to new platforms, expanding the Company's systems as it grows or a breach in security of these systems could result in interruptions to or delays in the Company's business and guest service and reduce efficiency in its operations. If the Company's information technology systems fail and its redundant systems or disaster recovery plans are not adequate to address such failures, or if the Company's business interruption insurance does not sufficiently compensate the Company for any losses that it may incur, the Company's revenues and profits could be reduced and the reputation of its brands and its business could be materially adversely affected. In addition, remediation of such problems could result in significant, unplanned capital investments.

#### Intellectual Property

The ability of the Company to maintain or increase its revenue will depend on its ability to maintain "brand equity", including through the use of the Company's trade-marks and the trade-marks and other intellectual property rights licensed from third parties. If the Company fails to enforce or maintain any of its intellectual property rights, the Company may be unable to capitalize on its efforts to establish brand equity. All registered trade-marks in Canada can be challenged pursuant to provisions of the *Trade-marks Act* (Canada) and comparable legislation in the United States, and if any Company trade-marks or trade-marks or other intellectual property rights licensed from third parties are ever successfully challenged, this may have a material adverse impact on the Company.

The Company owns the Company's trade-marks in Canada, and owns trade-marks used in New York Fries', State & Main and Elephant & Castle international operations. In the case of The Keg, the trade-marks, trade names and other intellectual property rights ("The Keg Rights") used in connection with the business of The Keg are owned by the Partnership, an indirect subsidiary of The Keg Royalties Income Fund, an unincorporated open-ended limited purpose trust. The Keg Rights are licensed to The Keg pursuant to the terms of a license and royalty agreement between the Partnership and The Keg, and in exchange for the use of The Keg Rights, The Keg pays the Partnership a royalty. However, it may not own identical and similar trade-marks in other jurisdictions and will not own identical or similar trademarks related to The Keg owned by parties not related to the Partnership in other jurisdictions. Third parties may use such trade-marks in jurisdictions other than Canada and the United States in a manner that diminishes the value of such trade-marks. If this occurs, the value of the Company's trade-marks and The Keg Rights may suffer and the results of operations of the Company could be impacted. Similarly, negative publicity or events associated with the Company in jurisdictions outside of Canada and the United States may negatively affect the image and reputation of the Company in Canada and the United States, resulting in a material adverse effect on the Company.

#### Lawsuits

The Company and the franchisees may, from time to time, become party to a variety of legal claims and regulatory proceedings in Canada or elsewhere in the ordinary course of its business, including, but not limited to, complaints or litigation from guests alleging food-related illness, injuries suffered on the premises or other food quality, health or operational concerns. The Company is also subject to a variety of other claims arising in the ordinary course of its business, including personal injury claims, contract claims, class action claims, claims from franchisees (which tend to increase when franchisees experience declining sales and profitability) and claims alleging violations regarding workplace and employment matters, discrimination and similar matters. The existence of such claims against the Company or its affiliates, directors or officers could have various adverse effects, including the incurrence of significant legal expenses defending such claims, even those claims without merit. The Company may also be named in lawsuits primarily directed at a franchisee. Adverse publicity resulting from such allegations may materially affect the sales or results of operations of restaurants, regardless of whether such allegations are true or whether the Company or a franchisee is ultimately held liable. See "Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Actions".

## Regulation

The Company and each restaurant is subject to various licensing, laws and regulations governing its business, employment standards, taxes and other matters, including but not limited to, laws and regulations relating to alcoholic beverage control, smoking laws, accessibility and regulations of health and safety and fire agencies. It is possible that future changes in applicable federal, provincial or common laws or regulations or changes in their enforcement or regulatory interpretation could result in changes in the legal requirements affecting the Company (including with retroactive effect). Any changes in the laws to which the Company is subject, including but not limited to, changes to the minimum wage, the Canadian federal government's Temporary Foreign Worker Program and informed dining regulations could materially adversely affect the Company's overall business. In addition, difficulties in obtaining or failures to obtain the required licences or approvals could delay or prevent the development of a new restaurant in a particular area. It is impossible to predict whether there will be any future changes in the regulatory regimes to which the Company will be subject or the effect of any such change.

As the owner or operator of real property, the Company and its franchisees are subject to federal, provincial and local governmental regulations relating to the use, storage, discharge, emission and disposal of waste and hazardous materials. Failure to comply with environmental laws could result in the imposition of severe penalties or restrictions on operations by governmental agencies or courts of law which could adversely affect the Company's operations.

#### The Company's Insurance May Not Provide Adequate Levels of Coverage

The Company believes that it maintains insurance customary for businesses of its size and type. However, there are types of losses that the Company may incur that cannot be insured against or that the Company believes are not economically reasonable to insure. Such losses could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business and results of operations.

# Foreign Currency Exchange Rates

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk. A depreciating Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar will have an adverse impact on the cost of produce, information technology equipment and services, and other goods imported from the U.S., while an appreciating Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar will have the opposite impact. Foreign exchange rate fluctuations may materially affect the Company's results of operations in future periods.

### Forward-Looking Information

The forward-looking information relating to, among other things, future results, performance, achievements, prospects or opportunities of the Company or the Canadian market included in this AIF is based on opinions, assumptions and estimates made by the Company in light of its experience and perception of historical trends, current conditions and expected future developments, as well as other factors the Company believes are appropriate and reasonable in the circumstances. However, there can be no assurance that such estimates and assumptions will prove to be correct. Actual results of the Company in the future may vary significantly from the historical and estimated results and those variations may be material. There is no representation by the Company that actual results achieved by the Company in the future will be the same, in whole or in part, as those included in this AIF. For more information, see "Cautionary Notice Regarding Forward-Looking Statements."

#### Risks Related to the Company's Securities

Potential Volatility of the price of the Subordinate Voting Shares

The market price for Subordinate Voting Shares may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond the Company's control, including, but not limited to, the following: (i) actual or anticipated fluctuations in the Company's quarterly results of operations; (ii) recommendations by securities research analysts; (iii) changes in the economic performance or market valuations of other issuers that investors deem comparable to the Company; (iv) addition or departure of the Company's executive officers and other key personnel; (v) sales or anticipated sales of additional Multiple Voting Shares or Subordinate Voting Shares; (vi) significant acquisitions or business combinations, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments by or involving the Company or its competitors; and (vii) news reports relating to trends, concerns, technological or competitive developments, regulatory changes and other related issues in the Company's industry or target markets.

Financial markets have recently experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have particularly affected the market prices of equity securities of public entities and that have, in many cases, been unrelated to the operating performance, underlying asset values or prospects of such entities. Accordingly, the market price of the Subordinate Voting Shares may decline even if the Company's operating results, underlying asset values or prospects have not changed. Additionally, these factors, as well as other related factors, may cause decreases in asset values that are deemed to be other than temporary, which may result in impairment losses. As well, certain institutional investors may base their investment decisions on consideration of the Company's environmental, governance and social practices and performance against such institutions' respective investment guidelines and criteria, and failure to satisfy such criteria may result in limited or no investment in the Subordinate Voting Shares by those institutions, which could materially adversely affect the trading price of the Subordinate Voting Shares. There can be no assurance that continuing fluctuations in price and volume will not occur. If such increased levels of volatility and market turmoil continue for a protracted period of time, the trading price of the Subordinate Voting Shares may be materially adversely affected.

# Payment of Dividends

Payment of dividends is dependent on cash flows of the business and subject to change. The declaration and payment of future dividends will be at the discretion of the Board, are subject to restrictions under the Company's credit facilities and may be affected by various other factors, including the Company's earnings, financial condition, acquisitions and legal or contractual restrictions. There can be no assurance that the Company will be in a position to pay dividends at the same rate (or at all) in the future.

## Significant Ownership by the Principal Shareholders

The Principal Shareholders, either directly or indirectly, hold approximately a 97% voting interest in the Company through ownership of all of the Multiple Voting Shares. For so long as the Principal Shareholders, either directly or indirectly, maintain a significant voting interest in the Company, the Principal Shareholders will have the ability to exercise substantial influence with respect to the Company's affairs and significantly affect the outcome of shareholder votes, and may have the ability to prevent certain fundamental transactions. In addition, the Fairfax Group Shareholders, as such term is defined in the Principal Shareholders Agreement, have the right to appoint one additional director to the Board of the Company in the event of a Deadlock, as such term is defined in the Principal Shareholders Agreement. This gives the Fairfax Group Shareholders additional control over matters to be considered by the Board. The Subordinate Voting Shares may be less liquid and trade at a discount relative to the trading that could occur in circumstances where the Principal Shareholders did not have the ability to significantly influence or determine matters affecting the Company. Additionally, the Principal Shareholders' significant voting interest in the Company may discourage transactions involving a change of control of the Company, including transactions in which an investor, as a holder of Subordinate Voting Shares, might otherwise receive a premium for its Subordinate Voting Shares over the then-current market price.

## Future Sales of Shares by the Principal Shareholders

No prediction can be made as to the effect, if any, of future sales of shares by the Principal Shareholders on the market price of the Subordinate Voting Shares. However, the future sale of a substantial number of shares by the Principal Shareholders, or the perception that such sales could occur, could adversely affect prevailing market prices for the Subordinate Voting Shares. Pursuant to the Principal Shareholders Agreement, each of the Principal Shareholders have certain demand registration rights which can be exercised at any time.

#### Dilution

The issuance of additional Subordinate Voting Shares may have a dilutive effect on the interests of shareholders. The number of Multiple Voting Shares and Subordinate Voting Shares that the Company is authorized to issue is unlimited. The Company may, in its sole discretion, subject to applicable law and the rules of the TSX, issue additional Multiple Voting Shares or Subordinate Voting Shares from time to time (including pursuant to the Company's equity-based compensation plans), and the interests of shareholders may be diluted thereby.

## Limited Voting Rights attached to the Subordinate Voting Shares

Holders of Subordinate Voting Shares and Multiple Voting Shares will generally have similar rights, except that holders of Subordinate Voting Shares will be entitled to one vote per Subordinate Voting Share whereas holders of Multiple Voting Shares will be entitled to 25 votes per Multiple Voting Share. The different voting rights of the Subordinate Voting Shares and Multiple Voting Shares could diminish the value of the Subordinate Voting Shares to the extent that investors or any potential future purchasers of Subordinate Voting Shares attribute value to the superior voting or other rights of the Multiple Voting Shares. Holders of Subordinate Voting Shares will only have a right to vote, as a class, in the limited circumstances provided for in the OBCA. The Board will determine major policies and strategies, including policies and strategies regarding financing, growth, debt capitalization and any future dividends to shareholders. Generally, the Board may amend or revise these and other policies and strategies without a vote of the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares. The Board's broad discretion in setting policies and strategies and the limited ability of holders of Subordinate Voting Shares to exert control over those policies and strategies increases the uncertainty and risks of an investment in the Company. In addition, the Fairfax Group Shareholders, as such term is defined in the Principal Shareholders Agreement, have the right to appoint one additional Director to the Board in the event of a Deadlock, as such term is defined in the Principal Shareholders Agreement. This gives the Fairfax Group Shareholders additional control over matters to be considered by the Board.

## Quarterly Operating Results May Fluctuate

The Company's quarterly operating results may fluctuate significantly due to numerous factors, including, but not limited to:

- the timing of restaurant openings and closures;
- royalty recovery rates and the extent to which Recipe provides financial assistance to franchisees:
- atypical weather as it relates to restaurant sales, for example the impact of snow storms on customer traffic, and patio sales being impacted by weather during summer months;
- restaurant operating costs for corporate-owned restaurants;
- labor availability and costs for hourly and management personnel at corporate-owned restaurants and manufacturing and distribution facilities;
- fluctuations in sales to retail grocery chains;
- profitability of the corporate-owned restaurants, particularly in new markets;
- changes in interest rates;
- increases and decreases in SRS Growth:
- impairment of long-lived assets and any loss on restaurant closures for corporate-owned restaurants;
- macroeconomic conditions, both nationally and locally;
- changes in consumer preferences and competitive conditions;
- expansion into new markets;
- · increases in fixed costs; and
- fluctuations in commodity prices.

Seasonal factors and the timing of holidays cause the Company's revenue to fluctuate from quarter to quarter. Revenue per restaurant is typically slightly lower in the fourth quarter due to holiday closures. Adverse weather conditions may also affect customer traffic. In addition, the Company has outdoor seating at some of its restaurants, and the effects of adverse weather may impact the use of these areas and may negatively impact the Company's revenue.

Securities Analysts' Research or Reports Could Impact the Price of Subordinate Voting Shares

The trading market for the Company's Subordinate Voting Shares will rely in part on the research and reports that industry or financial analysts publish about the Company or the Company's business. If one or more of the analysts covering the Company's business downgrade their evaluations of the Company's shares or share price, the price of the Company's Subordinate Voting Shares could decline. If one or more of these analysts cease to cover the Company's Subordinate Voting Shares, the Company could lose visibility in the market for its shares, which in turn could cause the Company's Subordinate Voting Share price to decline.

### **DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTIONS**

Subject to financial results, capital requirements, available cash flow and any other factors that the Board may consider relevant, it is the intention of the Board to declare quarterly cash dividends, following the announcement of the Company's quarterly results, for payment on the fifteenth day of the following month or, if such day is not a business day, the immediately preceding business day for shareholders of record as of the last business day of the month in which a dividend is declared. All dividends expected to be paid by the Company, unless otherwise indicated, are designated as eligible dividends in accordance with subsection 89(14) of the *Income Tax Act* (Canada) and any applicable corresponding provincial or territorial provisions. For more information, see "Risk Factors — Payment of Dividends".

The Company anticipates paying quarterly cash dividends, with annualized aggregate dividend payments of approximately \$26.6 million. Dividends will be declared and paid in arrears. The amount and timing of the payment of any dividends are not guaranteed and are subject to the discretion of the Board. For more information, see "Risk Factors — Payment of Dividends".

The Company declared and paid cash dividends aggregating \$0.40680 per Subordinate Voting Share and per Multiple Voting Share for the year ended December 25, 2016, \$0.40676 per Subordinate Voting Share and per Multiple Voting Share for the year ended December 31, 2017, and \$0.42720 per Subordinate Voting Share and per Multiple Voting Share for the year ended December 30, 2018.

The following summarizes the annualized dividend payments of the Company in the last three years. Following the completion of the Company's IPO, the Company only has Subordinate Voting Shares and Multiple Voting Shares outstanding.

	2018		2017		2016		
_	Cash <sup>(2)</sup>	Dividends per share	Cash <sup>(2)</sup>	Dividends per share	Cash <sup>(2)</sup>	Dividends per share	
Subordinate Voting Shares	\$11,906,503	\$0.43	\$10,160,928	\$0.41	\$7,108,565	\$0.41	
Multiple Voting Shares	\$14,694,093	\$0.43	\$13,991,032	\$0.41	\$13,992,064	\$0.41	
Common Shares	_	_	_	_	_	_	
Preferred — Class A	_	_	_	_	_	_	
Preferred — Class B	_	_	_	_	_	_	
Total	\$26,600,596		\$24,151,960		\$21,100,629		
Total Per Year	\$26,600,596		\$24,151,960		\$21,100,629		

On March 6, 2019, the Board declared a dividend of \$0.1121 payable on April 15, 2019, for shareholders of record as of March 29, 2019.

# PRICE RANGE AND TRADING VOLUME OF SUBORDINATE VOTING SHARES

The Subordinate Voting Shares are listed for trading on the TSX under the symbol "RECP". The following table lists the price ranges and volume traded for the Subordinate Voting Shares on the TSX, on a monthly basis during the year ended December 30, 2018, as reported by the TSX.

Subordinate Voting Shares	High (\$)	Low (\$)	Volume	
2018				
January	\$28.16	\$24.89	1,735,800	

February	. \$27.08	\$23.84	549,600
March	. \$29.23	\$23.25	985,000
April	. \$29.88	\$26.53	642,700
May	. \$29.82	\$26.50	609,400
June	. \$28.93	\$26.01	335,400
July	. \$28.21	\$26.50	435,800
August	. \$31.49	\$27.00	373,900
September	. \$29.94	\$26.99	301,100
October	. \$29.45	\$25.86	464,400
November	. \$28.22	\$23.61	443,800
December	. \$26.69	\$24.57	486,800

### **PRIOR SALES**

The following table sets forth the grants of options by Recipe pursuant to the Company's share option plan, which was implemented upon completion of the Company's IPO, during the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018:

	Number of Options			Term of
Grant Date	Granted	Exercise Price	Vesting Period	Grant
May 10, 2018	300,000	\$27.39	5 years	10 years
May 10, 2018	60,000	\$27.17	5 years	10 years
May 10, 2018	60,000	\$27.17	4 years	10 years
May 10, 2018	60,000	\$27.17	3 years	10 years
May 10, 2018	60,000	\$27.17	2 years	10 years
May 10, 2018	60,000	\$27.17	1 year	10 years
May 11, 2018	3,000,000	\$35.00	5 years max <sup>(1)</sup>	10 years
Total	3,600,000	\$33.71		

#### Notes:

(1) Three 1,000,000 tranches, each with conditional vesting criteria based on achieving certain performance targets within the first 5 years

# **DIRECTORS, OFFICERS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT**

The names and municipalities of residence of the directors, officers and senior management of the Company, their respective positions and offices held with the Company and their principal occupation for the last five or more years are shown below as at March 19, 2019. Directors are elected to serve until the next annual meeting of shareholders or until their successors are elected or appointed, unless their office is earlier vacated.

Name and Province/State and Country of Residence	Office	Principal Occupations During the Last Five Years	Period Served
William D. Gregson Ontario, Canada	Director, Executive Chairman of the Board	Director, Executive Chair of Recipe; Chief Executive Officer and Chair of Recipe	Director since October, 2013
			Executive Chair since May, 2018
Stephen K. Gunn <sup>(1)</sup> Ontario, Canada	Director	Corporate Director of Recipe; Co-Chair, Sleep Country Canada Inc.	Director since March, 2013
Christopher D. Hodgson <sup>(2)(4)</sup> Ontario, Canada	Director	Corporate Director of Recipe; President of the Ontario Mining Association; President of Chris Hodgson Enterprises;	Director since April, 2015
Michael J. Norris <sup>(2)</sup> Ontario, Canada	Director	Corporate Director of Recipe; Deputy Chair, RBC Capital Markets	Director since January, 2012
John A. Rothschild <sup>(3)</sup> Ontario, Canada	Director	Corporate Director of Recipe; Senior Vice President, Restaurant Development; Chief Executive Officer, Prime Restaurants Inc.	Director since October, 2013

Name and Province/State and Country of Residence	Office	Principal Occupations During the Last Five Years	Period Served
Sean Regan <sup>(4)</sup> Ontario, Canada	Director	Corporate Director of Recipe; President, Recipe Holdings Limited; Senior Vice President, Corporate Development of Recipe	Director since April, 2015
David Aisenstat British Columbia, Canada	Director Vice-Chair	President, CEO and Corporate Director of The Keg	Director since May 2018
Christy Clark British Columbia, Canada	Director	Senior Advisor at Bennett Jones LLP; Premier of British Columbia	Director since May 2018
Frank Hennessey	Chief Executive Officer	CEO of Recipe; President and CEO of Imvescor Restaurant Group	Chief Executive Officer since May 2018
Kenneth J. Grondin Ontario, Canada	Chief Financial Officer	Chief Financial Officer of Recipe	Chief Financial Officer since October, 2013
Julie Denton Ontario, Canada	Chief People Officer	Chief People Officer of Recipe; Vice President of Enterprise Project Management and Integration of Finastra	Chief People Office since January 2019
Grant Cobb Ontario, Canada	Senior Vice President, Casual Dining Division	Senior Vice President, Casual Dining Division of Recipe; Senior Vice President, Brand Management of Prime Restaurants Inc.	Senior Vice President since September, 2008
Steven J. Pelton Ontario, Canada	Senior Vice President Landing and Bier Markt	Senior Vice President Landing and Bier Markt	Senior Vice President since July, 2015
Pierre Rivard <sup>(5)</sup> Quebec, Canada	President, Groupe St- Hubert	President, Groupe St-Hubert; President of Retail Division – Groupe St-Hubert	President, Groupe St-Hubert since September, 2016

#### **Notes**

- (1) Chair of the Audit Committee
- (2) Member of the Audit Committee
- (3) Chair of the Governance, Compensation and Nominating Committee
- (4) Member of the Governance, Compensation and Nominating Committee
- 5) President of a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company

### Ownership of Securities

As at March 19, 2019, the directors and executive officers of the Company, as a group, beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly 1,489,924 Subordinate Voting Shares of the Company, representing approximately 5.5% of the issued and outstanding Subordinate Voting Shares. None of the directors or officers beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly any Multiple Voting Shares. Mr. Regan is the President of Cara Holdings Limited, which beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly 14,492,906 Multiple Voting Shares, representing approximately 41% of issued and outstanding Multiple Voting Shares.

# Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, Penalties or Sanctions

To the knowledge of the Company and based upon information provided to it by the Company's directors and executive officers, none of such directors or executive officers is or has been, in the last 10 years, a director or executive officer of any company that, while such person was acting in that capacity: (a) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, for a period of more than 30 consecutive days; (b) was subject to an event that resulted, after that person ceased to be a director or executive officer, in the

company being the subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, for a period of more than 30 consecutive days; or (c) within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets, except for the following:

(i) Mr. Gunn, a director of the Company, was previously a director of Golf Town Canada Inc., which was the issuer of equity securities and certain secured notes pursuant to an indenture dated July 24, 2012. Golf Town Canada Inc., together with certain of its Canadian affiliates (collectively, "Golf Town"), sought and obtained protection under the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act (the "CCAA") pursuant to an Initial Order of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice dated September 14, 2016. In connection with the CCAA proceedings, Golf Town completed a going concern sale of substantially all of its business and assets to an entity owned by Fairfax Financial Holdings Limited and certain funds managed by CI Investments Inc.

### **AUDIT COMMITTEE**

The Audit Committee consists of three directors, all of whom are persons determined by the Company to be both independent and financially literate within the meaning of National Instrument 52-110 – *Audit Committee* and all of whom are residents of Canada. The Audit Committee is comprised of Stephen K. Gunn, who acts as Chair of this committee, Michael J. Norris and Christopher D. Hodgson. Each of the Audit Committee members has an understanding of the accounting principles used to prepare financial statements and varied experience as to the general application of such accounting principles, as well as an understanding of the internal controls and procedures necessary for financial reporting.

The Board has adopted a written charter for the Audit Committee, in the form set out under Appendix A to this AIF, which sets out the Audit Committee's responsibilities. The Audit Committee's responsibilities include: (i) reviewing the Company's procedures for internal control with the Company's auditors and Chief Financial Officer; (ii) reviewing and approving the engagement of the auditors; (iii) reviewing annual and quarterly financial statements and all other material continuous disclosure documents, including the Company's annual information form and management's discussion and analysis; (iv) assessing the Company's financial and accounting personnel; (v) assessing the Company's accounting policies; (vi) reviewing the Company's risk management procedures; (vii) reviewing any significant transactions outside the Company's ordinary course of business and any legal matters that may significantly affect the Company's financial statements; (viii) overseeing the work and confirming the independence of the external auditors; and (ix) reviewing, evaluating and approving the internal control procedures that are implemented and maintained by management. The Audit Committee reviews the Company's quarterly results and makes a recommendation to the Board with respect to approving such quarterly results.

The Audit Committee has direct communication channels with the Chief Financial Officer and the external auditors of the Company to discuss and review such issues as the Audit Committee may deem appropriate.

### **Relevant Education and Experience**

Mr. Gunn is the Co-Chair of Sleep Country Canada Inc., a position he has held since 1997. He co-founded Sleep Country Canada in 1994 and served as its Chief Executive Officer from 1997 to 2014. Mr. Gunn was a management consultant with McKinsey & Company from 1981 to 1987 and then co-founded and was President of Kenrick Capital. Mr. Gunn is the Chairman of the Board of Dollarama Inc. where he has been on the Board since 2009 and he is a director of Canada Goose Holdings Inc. Mr. Gunn holds a Master of Business Administration from the University of Western Ontario and a B.Sc. degree in Electrical Engineering from Queen's University.

Michael J. Norris has been a director of the Company since January, 2012 and acted as the Interim Chair of the Board from October 31, 2013 to April 10, 2015. Previously, Mr. Norris was Deputy Chair of RBC Capital Markets and prior to that held numerous positions with RBC Capital Markets, including Head of the Energy Practice and Head of Global Investment Banking. Mr. Norris holds a Master of Business Administration from the University of Western Ontario and a B.Sc. (Hons) in Civil Engineering from Queen's University.

Christopher D. Hodgson is a director of the Company, the President of the Ontario Mining Association, President of Chris Hodgson Enterprises and a director of Fairfax India Holdings Corporation, Fairfax Africa Holdings Corporation and Canadian Orebodies Inc. Mr. Hodgson previously served as Lead Director for The Brick Ltd. As a member of Ontario's provincial parliament, Mr. Hodgson served as Minister of Natural Resources, Minister of Northern Development and Mines, Chairman of the Management Board of Cabinet, Commissioner of the Board of Internal Economy, and Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing. Previously, he enjoyed a career in municipal government and real estate development and is an Honours Bachelor of Arts graduate from Trent University.

## **Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures**

The Audit Committee must pre approve any permitted non-audit services to be provided by the external auditor to Recipe or its subsidiaries, provided that no approval will be provided for any service that is prohibited under the rules of the Canadian Public Professional Accountability Board or the Independence Standards of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants.

#### **External Auditor Service Fees**

KPMG LLP has been the Company's external auditor since 2010. From time to time, KPMG LLP also provides the Company with advisory and other-non audit services.

Fees incurred for services performed by KPMG LLP for the years ended December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 were as follows:

	Fiscal year ended			
		December 30, 2018	December 31, 2017	
Annual audit fees(1)	\$	1,105,475	\$	693,000
Audit related fees(2)	\$	579,510	\$	113,925
Tax fees <sup>(3)</sup>	\$	151,270	\$	-
All other fees <sup>(4)</sup>	\$	109,510	\$	33,199
	\$	1,945,765	\$	840,124

<sup>(1)</sup> Fees for audit service on an accrued basis. The increased fees in fiscal 2018 are attributable to additional audit service in connection with The Keg and Original Joe's.

## LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS

As part of its normal course of operations, the Company is involved in and potentially subject to a variety of legal claims and proceedings. Since litigation is inherently uncertain, the outcome of any such proceedings and claims resulting therefrom is unknown. However, based on information currently available, these matters, individually and in the aggregate, are not expected to have a material impact on the Company. In the event that management's assessment of the materiality of current claims and

<sup>(2)</sup> Fees for due diligence assistance related to acquisitions or potential acquisitions, assurance and related services not included in audit service above.

<sup>(3)</sup> Fees for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning, including tax related due diligence services for The Keg and Marigolds & Onions transactions.

<sup>(4)</sup> All other fees not included above.

proceedings proves inaccurate or litigation that is material arises in the future, there may be a material adverse effect on the Company's operations, revenues and financial performance. The Company is not aware of any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or securities regulatory body against the Company, nor has the Company entered into any settlement agreements before a court or with a securities regulatory authority.

#### INTERESTS OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS

Other than as noted below, there are no material interests, direct or indirect, of any director or executive officer of the Company, any shareholder that beneficially owns, or controls or directs (directly or indirectly), more than 10% of any class or series of the Company's outstanding voting securities, or any associate or affiliate of any of the foregoing persons, in any transaction within the three years before the date hereof that has materially affected or is reasonably expected to materially affect the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Recipe financed the acquisition of St-Hubert through the combination of cash pursuant to a draw down by the Company on its upsized revolving credit facility, the issuance of approximately \$53.9 million in Subordinate Voting Shares to the vendor and certain St-Hubert management, and through a \$230 million private placement of Subscription Receipts. On March 30, 2016, the Company entered into an Equity Commitment Agreement with Fairfax, whereby Fairfax provided a commitment that Fairfax would either exercise its pre-emptive right in full to purchase its *pro rata* share of any Subordinate Voting Shares that the Company offers to the public provided that the offering price does not exceed \$30.00 per share or, alternatively, would purchase \$200 million of Subordinate Voting Shares at a price of \$26.20. Fairfax also agreed to maintain its pre-emptive right to purchase its *pro rata* share of any Subordinate Voting Shares the Company offered to the public at a price above \$30.00. In consideration for Fairfax's commitment, the Company paid Fairfax a fee of \$4.0 million. On April 15, 2016, Fairfax purchased 3,487,180 Subscription Receipts, accounting for approximately \$102 million of the total \$230 million gross proceeds. On September 2, 2016, the Subscription Receipts were automatically exchanged, on a one-forone basis into Subordinate Voting Shares, resulting in Fairfax maintaining its approximately 40% equity interest and approximately 57% voting interest in Recipe.

Recipe financed the merger with the Keg through a combination of cash pursuant to a draw down by the Company on its existing credit facility of approximately \$105 million and the issuance of approximately \$95 million in Subordinate Voting Shares to the vendors, which includes affiliates of Fairfax. In connection with the Keg merger, affiliates of Fairfax received cash consideration of \$10,000,000 and 3,400,000 Subordinate Voting Shares, which resulted in Fairfax beneficially owning 7,224,180 Subordinate Voting Shares, which represents approximately 26.46% of the issued and outstanding Subordinate Voting Shares, and 19,903,378 Multiple Voting Shares, which represents approximately 57.86% of the issued and outstanding Multiple Voting Shares.

# **ADDITIONAL INFORMATION**

Additional information relating to the Company may be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

Additional information, including directors' and officers' remuneration and indebtedness, principal holders of the Company's securities and securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans, will be contained in the Company's Management Information Circular in connection with its Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held later this year. Additional financial information is provided in the Company's comparative financial statements and Management's Discussion & Analysis for its most recently completed fiscal year. A copy of such documents may be obtained, without charge, upon written request to the Corporate Secretary of the Company at 199 Four Valley Drive, Vaughan, Ontario, L4K 0B8, (905) 760-2244.

### TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

The transfer agent and registrar for the Subordinate Voting Shares is Computershare Trust Company of Canada at its principal office in Toronto, Ontario.

### MATERIAL CONTRACTS

The following are the material contracts of the Company that are in effect (other than certain agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business):

- the Coattail Agreement, particulars of which are provided under the heading "Description of Capital Structure"; and
- the Principal Shareholders Agreement, particulars of which are provided under the heading "Description of Capital Structure Automatic Conversion of Multiple Voting Shares".

Copies of the foregoing documents are available on SEDAR at www.SEDAR.com.

### **EXPERTS**

KPMG LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants, is the auditor of the Company and has confirmed that it is independent of the Company within the meaning of the relevant rules and related interpretations prescribed by the relevant professional bodies in Canada and any applicable legislation or regulation.

### **APPENDIX A: AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER**

### 1. Statement of Purpose

The Audit Committee (the "Committee") of Recipe Unlimited Corporation ("Recipe") has been established by the Board of Directors of Recipe (the "Board") for the purpose of overseeing the accounting and financial reporting processes of Recipe, including the audit of the financial statements of Recipe.

The Committee is responsible for assisting with the Board's oversight of (1) the quality and integrity of Recipe's financial statements and related disclosure, (2) Recipe's compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, (3) the independent auditor's qualifications, performance and independence and (4) the integrity of the internal controls at Recipe.

#### 2. Committee Membership

#### Members

The Committee will consist of as many members of the Board as the Board may determine but, in any event, not less than three members, a majority of whom shall be resident Canadians. Members of the Committee will be appointed by the Board, taking into account any recommendation that may be made by the Governance, Compensation and Nominating Committee. Any member of the Committee may be removed and replaced at any time by the Board, and will automatically cease to be a member if he or she ceases to meet the qualifications set out below. The Board will fill vacancies on the Committee by appointment from among qualified members of the Board, taking into account any recommendation that may be made by the Governance, Compensation and Nominating Committee. If a vacancy exists, the remaining members of the Committee may exercise all of its powers so long as there is a quorum and subject to any legal requirements regarding the minimum number of members of the Committee.

#### Chair

Each year, the Board will designate one of the members of the Committee to be the Chair of the Committee, taking into account any recommendation that may be made by the Governance, Compensation and Nominating Committee. If, in any year, the Board does not appoint a Chair, the incumbent Chair shall continue in office until a successor is appointed. The Board will adopt and approve a position description for the Chair which sets out his or her role and responsibilities.

### Qualifications

All of the members of the Committee shall be selected based upon the following, to the extent that the following are required under the applicable law: (i) each member shall be an Independent Director; and (ii) each member shall be financially literate. For the purpose of this Charter, the terms "independent" and "financially literate" shall have the meanings attributed thereto in National Instrument 52-110 — Audit Committees, as the same may be amended from time to time.

### Tenure

Each member of the Committee shall hold office until his or her term as a member of the Committee expires or is terminated.

### Ex Officio Members and Management Attendance

The Committee may invite, at its discretion, members of management to attend any meetings of the Committee. Any member of management will attend a Committee meeting if invited by the Committee.

The Chair, if not already a member of the Committee, will be entitled to attend each meeting of the Committee as an observer.

## 3. Committee Operations

### Frequency of Meetings

The Chair, in consultation with the other members of the Committee, will determine the schedule and frequency of meetings of the Committee, provided that the Committee will meet at least once per quarter.

# Agenda and Reporting to the Board

The Chair will establish the agenda for meetings in consultation with the other members of the Committee and the Chair of the Board. To the maximum extent possible, the agenda and meeting materials will be circulated to the members in advance to ensure sufficient time for study prior to the meeting. The Committee will report to the Board at the next meeting of the Board following each Committee meeting.

#### Minutes

Regular minutes of Committee proceedings will be kept and will be circulated to all Committee members and the Chair of the Board (and to any other director that requests that they be sent to him or her) on a timely basis for review and approval.

#### Quorum

A quorum at any meeting will be a simple majority.

### Procedure

The procedure at meetings will be determined by the Committee.

# Transaction of Business

The powers of the Committee may be exercised at a meeting where a quorum is present or by resolution in writing signed by all members of the Committee.

## Absence of Chair

In the absence of the Chair, the Committee may appoint one of its other members to act as Chair of that meeting.

# Exercise of Power Between Meetings

Between meetings, and subject to any applicable law, the Chair of the Committee, or any member of the Committee designated for this purpose, may, if required in the circumstance, exercise any power delegated by the Committee. The Chair or other designated member will promptly report to the other Committee members in any case in which this interim power is exercised.

## 4. Committee Duties and Responsibilities

The Committee is responsible for performing the duties set out below and any other duties that may be assigned to it by the Board and performing any other functions that may be necessary or

appropriate for the performance of its duties.

### Independent Auditor's Qualifications and Independence

- a. The Committee must recommend to the Board at all appropriate times the independent auditor to be nominated or appointed for the purpose of preparing or issuing an auditor's report or performing other audit, review or attest services for Recipe and approve the compensation to be paid to the independent auditor.
- b. The Committee is directly responsible for overseeing the work of the independent auditor engaged for the purpose of preparing or issuing an auditor's report or performing other audit, review or attest services for Recipe, including the resolution of disagreements between management and the independent auditor regarding financial reporting. The independent auditor will report directly to the Committee and the Committee will evaluate and be responsible for Recipe's relationship with the independent auditor.
- The Committee must pre-approve any permitted non-audit services to be provided by the C. independent auditor to Recipe or its subsidiaries, provided that no approval will be provided for any service that is prohibited under the rules of the Canadian Public Professional Accountability Board or the Independence Standards of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants. The Committee may delegate to one or more of its members the authority to pre-approve those permitted non-audit services provided that any such pre-approval must be presented to the Committee at its next meeting and that the Committee may not delegate pre-approval of any non-audit internal control related services. The Committee may also adopt specific policies and procedures relating to pre-approval of permitted non-audit services to satisfy the pre- approval requirement provided that the procedures are detailed as to the specific service, the Committee is informed of each non-audit service and the procedures do not include the delegation of the Committee's responsibilities to management or pre-approval of non-audit internal control related services. The Committee will review with the lead audit partner whether any of the audit team members receive any discretionary compensation from the audit firm with respect to non-audit services performed by the independent auditor.
- d. The Committee will obtain and review with the lead audit partner and a more senior representative of the independent auditor, annually or more frequently as the Committee considers appropriate, a report by the independent auditor describing: (a) the independent auditor's internal quality-control procedures; (b) any material issues raised by the most recent internal quality-control review, or peer review, of the independent auditor, or by any inquiry, review or investigation by governmental, professional or other regulatory authorities, within the preceding five years, respecting independent audits carried out by the independent auditor, and any steps taken to deal with these issues; and (c) in order to assess the independent auditor's independence, all relationships between the independent auditor and Recipe and the independent auditor's objectivity and independence in accordance with the rules, policies and standards applicable to auditors.
- e. After reviewing the report referred to above and the independent auditor's performance throughout the year, the Committee will evaluate the independent auditor's qualifications, performance and independence. The evaluation will include a review and evaluation of the lead partner of the independent auditor. In making its evaluation, the Committee will take into account the opinions of management and Recipe's internal auditors (or other personnel responsible for the internal audit function). The Committee will also consider whether, in order to assure continuing auditor independence, there should be a rotation of the audit firm itself. The Committee will present its conclusions to the Board.

- f. The Committee will review with the Board any issues that arise with respect to the performance and independence of the independent auditor and, where issues arise, make recommendations about whether Recipe should continue with that independent auditor.
- g. The Committee has the responsibility for approving the independent auditor's fees. In approving the independent auditor's fees, the Committee should consider, among other things, the number and nature of reports issued by the independent auditor, the quality of the internal controls, the impact of the size, complexity and financial condition of Recipe on the audit work plan, and the extent of internal audit and other support provided by Recipe to the independent auditor.
- h. The Committee will ensure the regular rotation of members of the independent auditor's team as required by law.
- i. The Committee will establish hiring policies for employees and former employees of its independent auditor.

#### Financial Statements and Financial Review

- a. The Committee will review the annual audited financial statements and quarterly financial statements with management and the independent auditor, including MD&A, before their release and their filing with securities regulatory authorities. The Committee will also review all news releases relating to annual and interim financial results prior to their public release. The Committee will also consider, establish, and periodically review policies with respect to the release or distribution of any other financial information, including earnings guidance and any financial information provided to ratings agencies and analysts, and review that information prior to its release.
- b. The Committee will review all other financial statements of Recipe that require approval by the Board before they are released to the public, including, without limitation, financial statements for use in prospectuses or other offering or public disclosure documents and financial statements required by regulatory authorities. The Committee will review the Annual Information Form and Management Proxy Circular of Recipe prior to its filing.
- c. The Committee will meet separately and periodically with management, the internal auditors (or other personnel responsible for the internal audit function) and the independent auditor.
- d. The Committee will oversee management's design and implementation of an adequate and effective system of internal controls at Recipe, including ensuring adequate internal audit functions. The Committee will review the processes for complying with internal control reporting and certification requirements and for evaluating the adequacy and effectiveness of specified controls. The Committee will review the annual and interim conclusions of the effectiveness of Recipe's disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls and procedures (including the independent auditor's attestation that is required to be filed with securities regulators).
- e. The Committee will review with management and the independent auditor: (A) major issues regarding accounting principles and financial statement presentations, including critical accounting principles and practices used and any significant changes to Recipe's selection or application of accounting principles, and major issues as to the adequacy of Recipe's internal controls and any special audit steps adopted in light of material control deficiencies; (B) analyses prepared by management and/or the independent auditor setting forth significant financial reporting issues and judgments made in connection with

the preparation of the financial statements, including analysis of the effects of alternative GAAP methods on the financial statements of Recipe and the treatment preferred by the independent auditor; (C) the effect of regulatory and accounting initiatives, as well as off-balance sheet structures, on the financial statements of Recipe; and (D) the type and presentation of information to be included in earnings press releases (including any use of "pro forma" or "adjusted" non-GAAP information).

- f. The Committee will regularly review with the independent auditor any difficulties the auditor encountered in the course of its audit work, including any restrictions on the scope of the independent auditor's activities or on access to requested information, and any significant disagreements with management. The Committee will also review with the independent auditor any material communications with the independent auditor, including any management letter or schedule of unadjusted differences.
- g. The Committee will review with management, and any outside professionals as the Committee considers appropriate, important trends and developments in financial reporting practices and requirements and their effect on Recipe's financial statements.
- h. The Committee will review with management and the independent auditor the scope, planning and staffing of the proposed audit for the current year. The Committee will also review the organization, responsibilities, plans, results, budget and staffing of the internal audit departments. In addition, management of Recipe's subsidiaries will consult with the Committee, on the appointment, replacement, reassignment or dismissal of personnel in the respective internal audit departments.
- i. The Committee will meet with management to discuss guidelines and policies governing the process by which Recipe and its subsidiaries assess and manage exposure to risk and to discuss Recipe's major financial risk exposures and the steps management has taken to monitor and control such exposures.
- j. The Committee will review with management, and any internal or external counsel as the Committee considers appropriate, any legal matters (including the status of pending litigation) that may have a material impact on Recipe and any material reports or inquiries from regulatory or governmental agencies.
- k. The Committee will review with the Board any issues that arise with respect to the quality or integrity of Recipe's financial statements, compliance with legal or regulatory requirements, or the performance of the internal audit function.

### Additional Oversight

- a. The Committee will establish procedures for (a) the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by Recipe regarding accounting, internal accounting controls, auditing matters or potential violations of law and (b) the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of Recipe of concerns regarding questionable accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters or potential violations of law. This will include the establishment of a whistleblower policy.
- b. The Committee will annually review the expenses of the CEO and the CFO.

#### 5. Access to Advisors

The Committee may, in its sole discretion, retain counsel, auditors or other advisors in connection with the execution of its duties and responsibilities and may determine the fees of any advisors so

retained. Recipe will provide the Committee with appropriate funding for payment of compensation to such counsel, auditors or other advisors and for ordinary administrative expenses of the Committee that are necessary or appropriate in carrying out its duties.

### 6. The Committee Chair

In addition to the responsibilities of the Chair described above, the Chair has the primary responsibility for monitoring developments with respect to financial reporting in general, and reporting to the Committee on any significant developments.

# 7. Committee Evaluation

The performance of the Committee will be evaluated by the Governance, Compensation and Nominating Committee as part of its annual evaluation of the Board committees.